>
-8
=]
7]
]
|
-

211022023 #167
COMPANIES HOUSE







Company information

Strategic and financial overview

Essential Legal Services

Specialist Legal Services

Section |72 statement

Directors’ report

Independent auditor’s report

Consolidated financial statements

Company financial statements












Remarkable people

Throughout the turbulence of the past year, our
Slater and Gordon family has risen to every challenge
it has faced.

Qur people proved their dedication and passion
during another unpredictable year, with the
pandemic continuing to limit how we could work
together. ltwas anullier yes when ayile thinking was
needed to resolve issues not just for now, but for the
future as well.

In respanse to Covid-19, 5+G had slready
accelerated our Connected Working Programme.
This is now a well-established way of working
across the business. It means everyone has as much
freedom as is operationally passible, choosing
where and how they want to work, futly backed

up by our effective I T solutions.

As a result, we have been able to keep working
efficiently and effectively through the most
challenging of times, and we can cast our net
further afield to attract the quality of talent
we need. We have recruited people across the
country in roles that are no longer solely
office-based.

| would particularly like to thank my predecessor
as CEQ, David Whitmore, who announced his
retirement from $+G in July 2022. David came out
of semi-retirement to lead S+G, and has expertly
guided the company into a strong and competitive
position in a crowded market. David and | have
worked closety together for many years and | will
continue to make the most of his expertise and
wise counsel as he transitionsinto a newroleasa
non-executive director.




Jenni Baldwin

During 2021, Essential Legal Services (ELS) comprised
Fast-track Road Traffic Accidents (RTA) and
Employers’ Liability and Public Liability (EL/PL)
claims, cases generated through the acquisition of
Jigsaw Law in 2020, cases in Scotland and customer
onboarding across the full group. We now also have
responsibility for the group’s technology. As such,
the department employed more than 700 people, and
accounted for about half of the firm’s fees.

Looking back, the year was effectively split into two
sections: before and after the Civil Liability Act (CLA).
The so-called ‘whiplash reforms’ came into force

at the end of May, meaning that smaller claims now
need to be processed through a seif-service online
portal called the Official Injury Claim portal (OIC)
and that they can do so without legal representation.

\We supported the CLA changes but warned that
implementation needed to be handied carefuliy to
ensure that genuine claimants were not unfairly
treated. Despite this, the OIC portal has been difficuit
for claimants to use, and we consider the risk that
individuals will not access the right tegal support

has increased.

Nevertheless, we responded proactively to the change
in legislation by providing an alternative to that
litigation-in-person process. Micase, our seif-service
ontine platform, ailows us to provide expert, No Win
No Fee, representation for whiplash injuries.

Micase launched in June 202l and is a key part of our
ongoing drive to transform the customer experience,
empowering clients to effectively take decisions on
unfamiliar issues,

With Micase, we are making essential, high-volume
legal services more efficient and accessible than ever,
delivering on customers’ evolving expectations. And
since we have digitally enabled that service, we have
seen that clients are happy to have the flexibility to
progress their cases outside normal working hours.

This reflects changing consumer demands, with
people increasingly expecting to be able to access
services around the clock.

As we lookforward to 2022, with ELS at the
forefront of Slater and Gordon's strategy to provide
more accessible and innovative legal services and
products, the work my colleagues spearheaded
across the business has been key to establishing our
market confidence,

in our business, customer experience is critical. We
therefore used the secand half of 2021 to drive forward
our improvement plan, to gain a true understanding
of any customer apathy and face the challenges both
our clients and colleagues had. Key to this success was
Micase, making the management of tens of thousands
of cases far more efficient.

“Micase is a key part
Four ongoing drive
to transform customer

experience.’
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As an example, we addressed pain points in the ontine
customer journey, by offering advisary video content,
enabling customer confidence to continue through
the process.

Video continues to prove a highly effective format for
us to build brand awareness and affinity. Our owned
content ~ all produced in-house — is among the

most consumed in the market, with more than

I0.6m views.

Another innovation was cur partnership with Googte.
We were abte to enhance our marketing through
machine learning, by better targeting search engine
activity. That cut the cost per enquiry by (2% and
reduced ‘Cumulative Layout Shift’, a measure of a
site’s user unfriendliness, by 17%.

And it pushed us up the online rankings: we were the
UK's second most visited consumer legal website
during 2021, up from a third position ranking in 2020.

Further, we became the first ever brand to retain the
top spot in the Digital 100, which rarks law firms’
digital marketing. And our Trustpilot and Google Star
ratings remain very positive.

It has been a transformational pericd for Slater and
Gordon. If 2020 was largely about preparation for
the changes ahead, then 202[ saw the delivery of
those plans.

Looking forward, we are determined to keep growing
and evolving our proposition to exceed customers’
expectations in an age where they expect fast

turnaround, transparent pricing and easy accessibility.

T

Another point of focus during 2021 was our colteagues
and culture. Attrition rates among our colleagues

in ELS were higher than average, so we focused on
reward and recognition, including reviewing the
incentives we offered, enhancing the opportunities
for skills development and providing greater clarity
around how colleagues can progress in

the organisation.

Furthermore, we're creating opportunities through
our partnership with apprenticeship provider
Babington, which utilises our contribution via the
government’s Apprenticeship Levy to provide
management training. | believe we now have a really
strong offer when compared with our competitors.

Despite the challenges, there’s no doubt that we
ended 202! in a stronger position than at the start of
the year. We're now contiruing to deliver strategic
change in a way that provides our valued and talented
colieagues ail the tools they need to deliver the best
service possible.
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An example of how our customer service was
enhanced in 202l isin clinical negligence. in
such a sensitive area. We introduced a specialist
function whereby people contacting Slater and
Gordon with clinical negtigence queries are
immediately handled by a specialist first point of
contact, helping to increase our conversion rate
from 1196 to 21%.

This success Led us to replicate this approach
across other teams. We worked to reduce the
number of onboarding stages for customers
before speaking with a fee earner, most notably
in our Specialist Legal Services practice. We also
moved to an omnichannel offering, giving clients
the opportunity to communicate through SMS
and web chat, not just on the phone.

We recognised the need for customers o
effectively access case progression information
and responded with the advent of our Micase
Tracker tool. We launched the first version of
Micase Tracker in 2021, allowing our call centre
to access case progression information, FAQs
and status updates to pass directly on to existing
clients there and then.

The taunch of Micase Tracker phase 2 is set
to deploy in H2 2022 with a plan to enable
customers to access case infoermation via this
tool directly.

This new ease of access to information has
been further enhanced by our appointment
booking tool which allows clients to self-book
appointments at a time convenient to them.

These examples are all about making the
customer experience more informed and
consistent, and our processes leaner.









Family and Employment

This year was another stellar year for the Family
and Employment specialisms, which both continued
to deliver outstanding results for our clients, taking
onanumber of significant and high-profile cases.

Our Employment team, led by Jo Mackie and
with a critical mass of experience and talent,
successfully acted for some high-profile clients
in complex matters.

Among these were the case of Sir Philip Rutnam,
the Permanent Secretary at the Home Office, who
resigned through a public statement asserting
canstructive dismissal as result of the actions of the
Home Secretary Priti Patel.

Advice was provided by lead lawyer Edward Cooper
up to and in respect of the resignation and then
employment tribunal proceedings were taken

by the department against the Home Office for
constructive dismissal on the grounds that the client
had made protected disclosures.

Family saw a significant growth of the team
nationatly, with a brand new team being unveiled
in 2021, including some of the most talented lawyers
inthe UK, driven and led by Head of Practice,

Georgina Chase, who has been with the firm for
over |0 years.

The team, who have increased their intake of cases
and profile considerably, handled a number of
complex and sensitive Family Law matters with
great compassion, working tirelessly to secure
satisfyingoutcomes for our clients.

Among these were the case of a retired Police
Officer with a complicated and unusual deferred
pension sharing issue. Georgina secured settlement
terms for the ex wife’s claim to a Pension Sharing
Order of the officer's Police Pension in payment,

ta be deferred until her 60th Birthday in 2023,

in order to prevent a significant deduction to the
Officer’s pension income if implementation had
otferwise taken place straight away.

Technical drafting of the Financial Consent Order

was required, as the Order had to be an extremely

comprehensive and detailed document in order for
it to be approved by the Court. The approval of the
Order by the Judge was an extremely satisfactory

outcome for our client.
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With technology at the heart of everything we do, we
want 1o move towards reducing our carbon footprint
in order to remain a sustainable and responsible
business. We are doing this by working with our
internal colleagues, strategic suppliers and partnersto
create a culture that will achieve this by digitalisation
and mobilisation of the workforce.

Our workin this area is fundamental to a responsible
busiress stralegy avd is a key prionily fur sur Directors

in2022.

Our workforce are encouraged to increase their use

of email, electronic signature and bundling software
packages and make use of video conferencingwhere
possible to avoid unnecessary travel. Cur facilities
department also monitor, contrel and report printer
use across the business to the Executive Leadership
team. One of the greatest drivers of our carbon
footprint is the space we occupy. Strategically, we can
downsize our estate by making our people agile and
digitising their ways of working. In 2021, we moved

to smaller sites such as Edinburgh and Cambridge.
Cur Manchester office now operates over just two
floors instead of five, and our new London office space
occupies 6,000sqft compared to 18,000sqft in 2020.
Consequentially, our utilities usage has also reduced.

in 2021, we implemented our incoming mail project
which digitised all incoming bard copy documents and
delivered them along intelligent worlkflows to the case
management system. We off-sited to archive providers
all of our an-site files by cataloguing (indexing)
40,000 files. These files are then scanned off-site in
archive provider warehouses where they are stored
efficiently and securely. Scanning of files removes
transport energy use. Our technology team regularly
power off our digital equipment to reduce our

energy consumption,

We further rolied out our Micase RTA portal which
provides a mechanism for our customers to interact
with our legal teams digitally, rather than by hard
copy documents.

The above initiatives have reduced our print volumes
by 85% since pre-Covid levels.

We are pleased to offer our workforce a Cycle to Work
scheme to promote health and wellbeing and help
reduce our impact on the environment. Our Cycle to
Work scheme offers employees up to £2,000 to spend
on a wide choice of bicycles, including elactric ones.
We also encourage employees who live near to an
office location te car share and we offer ail employees
who have to travel by train a £10,000 per annum
interest free loan for a season ticket. These measures
seek to help ensure that less fuel is used when our
worldorce travels to work so that we can effactively
contribute to a reduction in air pollution.
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Like atl great businesses, Slater and Gordon strive to
recruit the best people and uphold the highest legal
standards. Being technically gifted or the brightest
legat mind is not the only thing we Lloolk for in our
colleagues. Qur people bring scmething a little
different. We hire people who can challenge, remove
roadblocks and deliver outstanding customer service.
That is why at Stater and Gordon we go further with
our values. How we work is quided by the 5+ G Way.
This means:

+  We do what we say we will

+ Wedon'twait we create

+ Weownit, wesortit

» Werespect and encourage each other

»  \We maketime to live

The $+G Way defines the specific behaviours and
actions that cur colleagues and cur customers care
about the most. We know this, because our colleagues
helped to create the way, through a series of
interactive workshops and interviews.

Mairtaining a good employee experience is key to
staff recruitment and retention. We have a dedicated
cormmunications function that supports employee
engagement. Relevantinfarmation is shared through
channets such as regular online updates, employee
surveys and face-to-face executive briefings.

Communication with colleagues also takes place
through a variety of channels including 5+ G Colleague
live events, videos, blogs, emails, team taiks, the
Intranet and internal social channels. We also provide
wellbeing resources such as mindfulness, yoga and
exercise sessions. These were of paramountimportance
asthe Covid-19 pandemic continued into 2021

As part of the Group’s plans to continuoustly improve
its health and welibeing performance, there are ptans
to establish a Wetlbeing Champions scheme. This
involves having a small number of colleagues who have
a passion for driving wellbeing improvement within
the workplace. These colleagues will support HR and
Health and Safety and act as an additional point of
contact for colleague wellbeing queries/concerns.
Training will be provided to introduce the colleagues
to the expectation of the role and the current support
resources (internal/external).

All colleagues have access to an annual setf-
administered health check as well as three annual
digital GP appointments, up tosix nutritional
consultations and two second opinians. The Group
also offer private medical insurance through Bupa
where colleagues can access virtual GP services.



S+G recognise the importance of physical wellbeing
outside of the workplace and has introduced a gym
discount benefit to encourage good physical health.

In addition to this, over the course of 2021 we have
provided a number of staff training programmes
including our solicitor traineeship programme, 12
apprenticeship programmes, a starter induction
training system and our annual PDR training.

We have also provided extensive system training on
our case management systems, speech recognition
software and Microsoft Excel, as well as compliance
training on data protection and the Solicitors
Regulation Authority (SRA) codes of conduct.

P Rarie Bt ERE NI L aripreinT

Maintaining healthy relationships with suppliers,
stakeholders and regulators is key to the long-term
success of the business; as illustrated in Figure .

With this in mind, we endeavor to comply with
various regulatory bodies including the SRA and the
Financial Conduct Authority. Our Directors also
obtain appropriate information to make judgements
through stakeholder engagement, day- to-day
business interactions, structures or channels for
engagernent. Details on the Group’s supply chain,
anti-bribery and corruption policies are detailed in
the Directors Report.

Figure |. Slater and Gordon Stakeholders

Slater and Gordon
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For Slater and Gordon, maintaining a reputation

for excellent business conduct and standards is a
priority. It underpins everything we do. The S+G

way has been pivotal in setting the framework for our
culture; it also guides the expectations we have of each
employee in working with each other, our customers
and other stakeholders to ensure that we retain

both integrity and accountability. Full detaiis of the
Board compasition and Directors’ responsibilities are
detailed in the Directors’ Report.

Acting fnicky butweer merio s of the Damvonoy

Slater and Gordon exercises its relevant powers

in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association and in accordance with relevant internal
pelicies and procedures to ensure it acts fairly as
between the Members of the Company. The Board is
comprised of:

= One executive Director of the Company,
being the CEQ;

* Three non-executive Directors (NEDs),
representing Slater and Gordon’s majority
shareholder, one of whom is the Chair;

* One NED, representing Slater and Gordon's
minority sharehokders; and

» One NED, acting as a senior adviser to the Board.

Allsharehotders therefore have a fair opportunity to
provide their views to the Board. To ensure probity
and transparency, the Board meets regutartyto
assess the performance of the Company as part of its
responsibility to ensure long-term success.

O

Niks Stoesser
Chief Executive Officer

13 January 2023






The Company’s policy is to continuously consult and
discuss matters tikely to affect employees’ interests
and engagement. The Company has a dedicated
Internal Communications function which supports our
drive to engage with our colleagues regularty, which
has been of paramount importance during 202F and
the move to a more virtual environment.

Information is given through media such as regular
online information updates, employee surveys and
face-to-face Executive briefings which seek to achieve
a common awareness on financial and operational
matters affecting the Company's performance.

The Company’s poticy is to recruit disabled workers
for those vacancies that they are able to fill. All
necessary assistance with initial training is given.

Once employed, we offer a career pian so asto ensure
suitable opportunities for each disabled person.
Arrangements are made, wherever possible, for
retraining employees who become disabled, to enable
them to perform work identified as appropriate to
their aptitudes and abilities.

(O EER

The Company is committed to ensuring the prevention
of modern slavery practices across the Company

and in its supply chains. The Company has a zero-
tolerance approach which reflects our commitment

to acting ethicaliy and with integrity in all our

business relationships. Anti-slavery awareness has
been incorporated within induction and annual
training programmes.

L e T S S R T PR

The Slater and Gordon Group has a group-wide anti-
bribery and corruption policy, which is in compliance
with the Bribery Act 2010. Procedures are reviewed
periedically to ensure continued effective compliance
acraoss the Group {including the Company).

RS IR ONrS SETNER

During the year the Company made no political
donations (2020: none).

.
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The mission of Slater and Gordon is to provide high
quality, technology-driven legal services to ali UK
consumers. This purpose is underpinned by our culture
and cornmitment to be a people business thatis
powered by technology.

As detailed in the Section 72 statement within the
strategic repart above, processes are in place to
ensure that the Board has a clear understanding

of all shareholder views, including its minority
shareholders, The People Committee - a sub-
committee of the Board - is tasked not only with
setting a consistent HR strategy across the Group, but
also inreporting on key employee initiatives to the
Board at each board meeting. Unfiitered feedback is
also shared with the Board after each regular round
of 'Live Events’ and 'Strategy Updates’. This process
ensures the Board is aware of the views of employees
and uses these insights to inform its views on the
impact of wider business decisions on employees.

Our people are updated on progress against our
strategy throughout the year, via communication
tools that range from monthly communications from
our CEQ, to weekly email newsletters.

Our people agenda focused on the future growth
opportunities of our workforce, strengthening of cur
culture, the acquisition and retaining of quality talent
and the transition to agile working.

Covid-{9 helped to accelerate the internal digital
transformation of the workforce and increase our
investment in our technology. This more effective

use of technology also led to a reduction in the use of
paper across the Group which fed into our responsible
business strategy. The S+G Way is the foundation of
our competency framework and a values system for
the Group as a whole. It sets out a shared expectation
of how the workforce should collaborate and interact,
both with customers and with each other. During 2021,
we continued various employee recognition initiatives,
such as our annuat awards programme, to celebrate
people demonstrating our values and delivering for
colleagues and customers.

R S S S B Tt P P O AL S S AP

As befits a business such as ours, the Board is
comprised of individuals with a range and balance of
skills, backgrounds, experience and knowledge.

John Cannelly was the Chairman of the Company
throughout 2021. Asthe Chairman he consistently
encouraged open and constructive debate amongst his
fellow Directors. Directors have sufficient capacity and
opportunity to make a valuable contribution.

The roles of the Chairman and CEO are held by
separate individuals. in 2021, there were three non-
executive Directors {excluding the Chairman), and
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two executive Directors on the Board (excluding
the CEQ}. Therefore 60% of the Board were non-
executive Directors (NEDs).

Currently, there are four NEDs (excluding the Chair),
and one executive Director {(who is the CEQ) on the
Board. Therefore, 80% of the Board are NEDs.

During 2021, the Board met fifteen times. Typically,
unless a meeting is held in short order, the Directors
are given four weeks to prepare their items for the
next meeting. Board packs contain an action list that
keeps track of the status of every assigned task given
to the Directors, including associated delivery dates.
Directors are given a minimum of two days to read
the board pack before each board meeting, and each
itern is allocated sufficient time for full discussion

at the meeting. The Chairman ensures that a full
range of critical matters from across the business are
scheduled for discussion at board level. In particular,
the Board will always hear feedback from the People
Committee and Audit and Risk Committee about key
matters arising from their meetings. In addition to this,
the Board annually undertakes an immersive strategy
session over a number of days, to ensure that all
aspects of the business and its strategy have received
due consideration.

The Board has delegated its risk function to the Audit
and Risk Committee, and their remuneration function
to the People Committee. The terms of reference for
each committee set out the authorities delegated to
them, and the chair of each committee {each an NED)
reports to the Board at each meeting.

Importantly, board members come from a diverse
range of backgrounds including financial investment
and accountancy, law, investment management and
rmanagement consultancy. This ensures that a broad
range of knowledge, skill sets, and approaches inform
avery board decision. Further, the Board actively
seeks to align the business with strategic commercial
partners who embrace the same vision.

The Chair and Company Secretary periodically review
the Company's governance processes to ensure they
support effective decision-making. The General
Counsel and Company Secretary attend board
meetings and are respansible for advising the Board

on all governance matters, ensuring that all Directors
have direct access to this advice.

The Group has Delegations of Authority Guidelines
(the "DoA") in place. The DoA sets out to whom
the Board may delegate decision-rmaking authority
to run the business on a day-to-day basis. However,
decisions around external commitments which are
business-critical in nature, or which represent a high
financial commitment, remain reserved to the Board
of Directors.

Conflicts of interest are managed by a register of
interests for board members and the Articles of
Association of the Board sets cut how conflicts of
interest should be decided. The Board is currently
provided with:

* Anannual report from an independent auditor who
audits the inancial statements of the Group

* Financial reports and key performance indicators
from the Chief Financial Officer

Worlkforce data from the Managing Director of
Essential Legal Services and the Managing Director
of Specialist Legat Services

Feedback from empioyees via employment
engagement surveys and colleague roadshows

Reqular 'deep dive’ reports from each area of
the Group

Consumer data from research conducted by the
Group's Marketing team.

All material provided to the Board for consideration
must go through a rigorous internal review process,
to include approval by the executive leadership team
where appropriate, and by the CEQ, to ensure the
reliability of business information being provided to
the Board for consideration,

Where it is appropriate for the Board to appoint
external advisors (to provide clear guidance on

their statutory responsibilities as Directors) this is
commissioned by Chief Operating Officer and the
General Counsel. Where ongoing monitoring of a
particular business matter is required, the Board
wilt appoint a dedicated sub-committee of the
Board - with a clear term of reference - to monitor
progress of that matter and report back to the Board
atregular intervals.

The Company wiltl also provide periodic presentations
of operational performance to the minerity
shareheclders and their appointed representative on
the Board: a Non-Executive Director who specifically
represents the interests of the minority shareholders.
Effective and efficient communication of information
with all Shareholders is ensured through the
appointment of an experienced managing agent:
Global Loan Agency Services.




The Board works to promote the long-term,
sustainable success of the Company by identifying
apporturities to create and preserve value and by
establishing oversight for the identification and
mitigation of risks.

One of the values that make up the 5+ G Way is "We
Don’t Wait, We Create’, which encapsulates our drive
to create solutions and identify future opportunities.

We have conducted extensive market research into the
UK legal industry, to find out who cur eustomers are,
the types of preducts they demand and the best ways
in which we can meet their needs. Gur findings have
helped to identify six key customer segments, which
inform and direct the design of cur products

and services.

To test our product and service development, we also
carry out robust user testing prior to release. This user
feedback helps to verify that the decisions we make
about our communication and technology sclutions
truly meet customer needs and expectations.

Qur quality control processes also involve closely
monitoring and responding to customer feedback via
our complaints procedures, as well as continuously
monitoring Google and Trustpilot reviews and our
customer Net Promoter Scares (NPS). In 2021 we
saw an improvement in our NPS, Trustpilot reviews
and visits to our YouTube page and enquiries {eft an
our website.

LR A Y S SN

The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) is responsible
for maintaining ar appropriate relationship with
the Group's external auditors and for reviewing the
Group's internal financial controls and the audit
process. It assists the Board in seeking to ensure

the integrity of the financial and non-financial
information supplied to external stakehotders and
that such information presents a fair, balanced

and understandable assessment of the Group’s
performance and position.

The Beard considers that the ARC's responsibilities
include:

* The principles of, and developments in, financiat
reporting including the applicable accounting
standards and statements of recommended practice

* Financial performance, including liquidity and
matters which may influence the presentation of the
financial statements

« The principles of, and developments in, company
law, sector specific laws and other reievant
corporate legisiation

21

* Making recommendations to the Board on the
Group’s risk strategy and risk appetite

+ Overseeing the design and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management framework relative to
the Group's activities, including those that would
threaten its business model

+ Reviewing the adequacy and quality of the risk
management function and the effectiveness of
risk reporting

The Committee reviews the effectiveness, objectivity
and independence of the external auditors and
considers the scope of their work and fees paid for
audit and non-audit services.

The activities of the ARC are supported by a dedicated
Compliance and Rislcfunction under the leadership of
the Chief Operating Officer.

Stater and Gordon is committed to identifying and
understanding environmental, social and governance
risks and ensuring that the appropriste decisions are
made across the Group and its supply chains, The
ARC therefore aims to ensure that all stakeholders are
safeguarded and treated fairly and with dignity. Our
Risk Charter, in conjunction with our corporate social
responsibility programme, sets out all stakeholders’
responsibilities in this regard. Through our risk and
assurance programmes, we work with our people and
procurement functions to strengthen our internal
controls framework and systems.

The Board has determined its risk appetite and the
Group's key risk indicators are reviewed on a regular
basis. In addition to this, the Board keeps the risk
appetite statement and risk framework under active
review, and both of these documents require board
approval onan annual basis.

Identifying potential problems is a vital part of
managing risk, so in line with the Group Raising Issues
and Concerns Policy there are various reporting
channelsin place for each business unit. These are set
out within the Whistieblowing Poticy and Procedures,
together with local business unit reporting procedures.

A full group risk report is presented to and reviewed by
the ARC when it convenes at its quarterly meetings.

The ARC reports to the Board on all matters within
its remit and the Committee makes whatever
recommendations to the Board that it deems
appropriate.
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The Beard promotes executive remuneration
structures that are aligned to the long-term
sustainable success of the Company, taking into
account pay and conditions elsewhere in the
Company.

There are harmonised benefits across the Groupand a
Group Incentive Plan in place, designed to reward the
results and behavicurs that help to drive the profitable
growth of Slater and Gordon by:

I. Incentivising superior results, including cash
management measures.

2. Promoting the values, behaviours and actions which
will help the business advance.

3. Rewarding results and behaviourin a clear,
consistent, fair and straightforward manner.

The Group Incentive Plan offers the opportunity to
earn a market-competitive percentage of salaryin
return for results achieved. Annual performance
reviews are aligned with the incentive.

The plan has been implemented across the
organisation, but adjustments have been made for
its application across different levels, roles and
responsibilities. For exampie, there is a specific
plan for the executive leadership team and senior
management whereby the increased seniority of
the employee means closer alignment of the
individual awards to group performance over
individual attainment.

The executive leadership tearm and senior
management remuneration is closely aligned to

the resutts of a bi-annual performance review. This
performance rating is based not only on individuat
output but also functicnal and group performance on
a financial and non-financial basis. Further governance
is enabled via the People Committee.

Regarding the mechanism for remunerating Directors,
Slater and Gerdon (UK) | Limited, a direct subsidiary
of the Company, controls the pay for Directors of
Slater and Gordon Group Companies under the
supervision of the People Committee.
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The Peopie Committee is made up of two NEDs

and the Chief Executive Officer in attendance has
responsibility for setting the overatl remuneration
policy and making decisions about specific
remuneration arrangements in the broader context of
employee remuneration throughout the Group. This
involves approving all awards under the incentive plan

and the wider remuneration package for all Directors,
executive leadership team members and other
members of the senior managementteam.

Further, the Company uses an external benchmarking
provider to inform benchmarking data for all roles
within the organisation, ensuring a robust salary
review process and informing a competitive range of
rewards for all employees in the context of their local
market. As part of our commitment to continuous
improvement we complete a salary review annually to
inform our Reward Strategy.

Full and detailed calibration of group-wide pay awards
and incentives is also undertaken, which includes
visibility of any gender pay gap.

We offer enhanced family-friendly leave payments

to all levels of the workforce, This involves the
standardisation of maternity, enhanced maternity
and paternity pay for all colleagues across the Group,
including voluntary benefits. We also have a colleague
discount hub.

e gl it s r e e

The aim of this policy is to support a diverse and
inclusive workplace where all members of the
workforce feel free to be themselves and to thrive.
This is aligned with the S+G Way and applies equatly
throughout the Group hierarchy including to the
executive leadership team.

Stater and Gordonis also a ‘Diversity Champion’
member of the Vatuable 500, with the Pecple
Committee enabling five diversity and inclusion
networks - the newest addition is the Sociat Mobility
network which was set upin Summer 2021, ~ and each
has its own network Chair and executive sponsor.

The People Committee regularly reports on diversity
and inclusion initiatives to the Board, and a majority
Director is the Chairman of the People Committee,
to ensure sufficient rigour and independence of that
sub-committee.

Some of the key initiatives that we have underway are:

* We have made a submission to the Social Mobility
Commission’s Employer Index to hetp us identify
where we can improve in this area.

* Reviewing our employee census data to understand
both the diversity makeup of our workforce but atso
throughout the recruitment stage. This information
wilt help us establish whether the initiatives we
have put in place are working and further refine our
diversity and inclusion strategy.



* Commitment to building a pipetine of diverse
talent by supporting colleagues atong their career
trajectory, We plan to launch personal development
programmes such as an internal mentoring scheme,
which wilt allow colleagues in senior positions within
the business to offer themselves up asa mentor to
tess experienced colleagues.

-

Working with key partners and the community to
support equality of opportunity through our werk
with universities and community groups, to attract
candidates from a variety of sources, creating a
diverse talent pool.

Ongoing work to ensure that our policies and
internal processes support and commit to a zero-
tolerance approach to any form of harassment,
discrimination, and unethical behaviour. All
colleagues and all those who work with us are
expected to uphold our values.

Slater and Gordon has placed disability inclusion
on its leadership agenda by making a commitment
tothe Valuable 500, becoming a Disability
Confident Employer on the Disability Confident
scheme and becoming a member of the Business
Disability Forum,

We have partnered with 55/Redefined and work
ctosely with them to become a better age inclusive
employer and to create better solutions for our
employees and customers over the age of 55.

Partnership with SCOPE — all of cur job ads are
posted to the members of this naticnal disability
charity. We work closety with them and offer
our services cut to its members e.g. CV writing
and interview skills workshops, hosting their
member events.

An external employment campaign as part of
LGBTQ+ history month

Qur managers were offered mental heaith and
absence managementtraining and we also offered
a masterclass on Cancer in your Workplace, run by
Macmillan at Work.

Gender pay gap has decreased from 19.6% in 2020
to15.9% in 2021

Slater and Gordon employees now have the option
to add their pronouns to their work email address.

5+G partnered with InterLaw Diversity Forum, a
forum where they work to foster inclusion for all
diverse, socially mobile and under-represented
tatentin the legal industry.
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The Board is responsible for overseeing and fostering
meaningfui engagement with alt stakeholders,
including the workforce. Just as importantly, it hasa
responsibility to have a proper regard for their views
when taking decisions.

Similarly, the Board understands its duty to treat
clients, and each ather, with mutuat respect and
trust, With this in mind, Slater and Gordon uphoids a
board-approved corporate and secial responsibitity
strateqy, which comprises three key areas: pro bono,
community and the environment.

This works in concert with the business’ evolving
envirenmentat policy, which includes the property
strategy deliverables and document management
strategy for the Group and is designed to introduce
measures that witl ultimately reduce the carbon
footprint of the Group.

Together with the ongeing initiatives to promote
the $+G Way, enhance dialogue with staff and
stakeholders and manage risk, our commitment to
social responsibility puts Slater + Gordon on a firm
footing with regard to all stakeholder relationships
and engagement.

To make Slater and Gordon as inclusive and supportive
as possible, we also support anactive Employee
Assistance Programme, which is a confidential service
designed to help staff with life’s ups and downs, both
at home and at werk. This provides our colleagues
with a range of professional services, including
counselling, either over the telephone or face-to-face.

And because clients are always at the heart of our
thinking, we also provide a formal complaints process
for clients whereby the Client Care Teamn provides
details of any complaints to senior management

for further review and action. The Section [72
statement eartier in this document provides additional
information relating to the Board and the Company's
diatogue with stakeholders.



24

Preray and onrbon §epartiog

The Group is committed to year-on-year
improvements in its operational energy efficiency.

Our total energy consumption for 202l was 5,277,589
kW h. Our property strateqy and Document Services
Programme have enabled us to significantly reduce
our property estate. The figures below represent the
energy consumption and carben emissions for the
report period | January 202} to 31 December 2021

Year 2021 2020 2021 2020
Gnd-supplied

Elect ricity 2,375,125 1,153,518 504 269
Gaseous and 2,566,306 875,484 470 161
other fuels

Transportation 336,158 429,192 78 102

tCO2e fFTE Q.75
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At 3| December 2021, the Group had net assets of
£85.Im and cash of £1l.5m.

The Group has prepared cash flow forecasts for the
period to 30 June 2024, based on key assumptions
around the achieverment of revenues, the costs and
working capital required to generate these revenues,
The Directors have considered the level of new
instructions and the likely future value of this work
together with the forecasts and projected cash flow
patterns of the Group for the foreseeable future, being
a period of at least |2 months from the date of approval
of these financial statements.

The Group’s projections for the period to 30 June

2024 including receipts and payments indicate that the

Group expects to be able to discharge its obligations
to all stakeholders. Business activity and cash flows
are monitored on a weekiy basis and continue to be
satisfactory. Regular financial forecasts are prepared
to monitor the Group’s funding requirements to
demonstrate the Group's ability to meet its working
capitat requirements, to meet liabilities when they
fall due and to comply with regulatory capital
requirements.

The Group has considered the impact of the global
economy on the cashflow forecasts, including the
aftermath of the Covid-19 pandemic, the continuing

0.31

rise of inflation and the geopolitical issues in Ukraine.
The forecasts are based on a prudent level of intake
growth, with road trafic volumes and court processes
seeing a return to pre Covid-19 levels. The successful
settlement of the VW case enabled the Group te
increase cash during FY22.

As part of looking at the period of the projections

the Group has also assessed its access to financing.
Historically this has been provided through a
shareholder loan facility and a working capital facility.

The sharehoider loan facility, including accrued
interest, was £43.5mas at 3| December 2021 and was
fully drawn down (2020: £33.8m). On 10 June 2022,
following the successful settlement of the Volkswagen
class action, the Group repaid the shareholder loan cf
£46.8m (including interest), in accordance with the
contractual terms of the loan facility.

The working capital facility had £31.4m drawn at 3l
December 2021 (2020; £20.9m). In common with
most asset based facilities this is an on demand facility,
meaning that the lending counterpart has the ability to
restrict or cease to allow drawdowns at short notice.
This has been the case since the inception of the facility
in 2019.

The current provider of the working capital facility has
informed the Group that it is attempting to refinance
its own business given repayment commitments under
its own facilities. If these refinancing activities are not
successful the current provider has indicated it will
not be abte to continue funding the Group’s working
capital facility. In these circumstances the Group will
need to find alternative working capital inancing. The
Directors' assessment of going concern assumes that
the Group will have access to at teast £25m of working
capital funding, on terms that are substantially similar
to current terms. The group is in ongeing discussions
with the current lender, and other lenders, with the
support of professional advisors, to secure this level of
funding for the period of the projections.

The Directors have reasonable expectations that

the Group will have access to the necessary working
capital financing based on current discussions with

its lenders and other potential lenders, in particular
given the availability of unsecured net assets of
approximately £130m at 30 November 2022
(unaudited management accounts). Accordingly, the
Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing these financial statements.

If the Group were not able to access at least £25m
of werking capital funding during the period of the
projections these events or conditions constitute

a material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt over the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern,
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Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness

to continue in office as auditors and appropriate
arrangements have been put in place for them to be
deemed reappointed as auditors in the absence of an
Annual General Meeting.

Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of
approval of this report confirms that:

so far asthe Directoris aware, there is no relevant
auditinformation of which the Company’s auditors
are unaware; and

the Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought
to have taken as a Director in order to make himself/
herself aware of any relevant audit information and
to establish that the Company's auditors are aware
of that information.

This confirmation is given and shauld be interpreted
in accordance with the provisions of 5418 of the
Companies Act 2006. Deloitte LLP has expressed
their willingness to continue in office as auditors and
appropriate arrangements have been put in place for
them to be deemed reappointed as auditors in the
absence of an Annual General Meeting.
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The Directors are respansible for preparing the
Annual Repert and the financiat statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directers to prepare
financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law the Directors have elected to prepare the Group
financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board and the
parent company financial statements in accordance
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards

and applicable law), including FRS 101 “Reduced
Disclosure Framework”. Under company law the
Directors must not approve the financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
profit or loss of the Company for that period.

In preparing the parent Company financial
statements, the Directors are required to:

* select suitable accounting policies and then apply
themn consistently;

= maie judgments and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;
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* state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards
have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements; and

» prepare the financial statements on the going
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Company witl continue in business.

In preparing the Group financial statements,
International Accounting Standard | requires
that Directors:

+ properly select and apply accounting policies;

« present information, including accounting policies,
in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information;

provide additional disclosures when compliance
with the specific requirements in IFRSs are
insufficient to enable users to understand the
impact of particular transactions, other events
and conditions on the entity’s financial position
and financial performance; and

make an assessment of the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting recerds that are sufficient to show and
explain the Company's transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financiat position
of the Company and enable them to ensure that the
financial statements comply with the Companies Act
2006. They are also responsible for safequarding the
assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
otherirregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial informaticn
included on the Company’s website. Legislation in

the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Im assessing the tong-term strategy of the business,
the Board completed a full assessment to identify the
different consequences, including risk management
considerations and scenarios that could arise from
alternative decisions. Significant financial risks are
routinely considered and disclosed in note 26.

b O

Nils Stoesser
Chief Executive Officer

13 January 2023
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In our apinion:

* the financial statements of Slater and Gordon UK
Holdings Limited (the 'parent company’) and its
subsidiaries (the 'group’) give a true and fair view of
the state of the group’s and of the parent company's
affairs as at 3| December 202t and of the group’s loss
forthe year then ended;

the group financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with international
accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by the UK;

the parent company financial statements have

been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice,
including Financial Reporting Standard 101 "Reduced
Disclosure Framework” ; and

the financial staterments have been preparedin
accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006,

We have audited the financial statements which
comprise:

the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income;

the consolidated and parent company statement
of financial position;

the consolidated and parent company statements
of changes in equity;

the consolidated cash flow statement; and

.

the related consolidated notes | to 29 and
Company notes I-10.

The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in the preparation of the group financial
statements is applicable law, and international
accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and IFRSs as
adopted by the UK. The financial reporting frameworlk

that has been applied in the preparation of the parent
company financial statements is applicable law and
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including
Financiat Reporting Standard 10l “Reduced Disclosure
Framework” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice).

g fery gRElelgle

We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (I5As

{UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report.

We are independent of the group and the parent
company in accerdance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, including the Financial
Reporting Council's {the ‘FRC’s") Ethical Standard,
and we have fuifilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements. \We betieve
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We draw attention to note | in the financial
statements, which indicates that the Group's going
concern assessment assumes access to £25m of
working capital funding and is in ongoing discussions
with the current tender and other lenders to secure
this for the period of the projections. As stated in note
I, these events or conditions, along with the other
matters asset forth in note |, indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast signihcant doubt on
the company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter,

In auditing the financial statements, we have
concluded that the directors' use of the going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financiat
statements is appropriate.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the
directors with respect to going concern are described
in the relevant sections of this report.
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The other information comprises the information
inctuded in the Directors’ report, other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other
information within the Directors’ report. Our opinion
on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thercon,

Our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If

we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent
materiai misstatements, we are required to determine
whether this gives rise tc a material misstatementin
the financial statements themselves. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that thereisa
material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

As explained more fully in the directors’
responsibilities statement, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a

true and fair view, and for such internal control as

the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

in preparing the financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the group's and the
parent company's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the group or the parent company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Our objectives are to obtain reascnable assurance
about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due
tofraud crerror, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK)
will always detect a material misstatement when it
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exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements is located
on the FRC's website at: www.fre.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms
part of our auditor’s report.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of
detecting irregularities, inciuding fraud irregularities,
including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with
laws and regulations. We design procedures in line
with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect
material misstatements in respect of irreqularities,
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures
are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
is detailed below.

We considered the nature of the group’s industry and
its control environment, and reviewed the group’s
documentation of their policies and procedures
relating to fraud and compliance with laws and
regulations. \We also enquired of management,
about their own identification and assessment

of the risks of irregularities.

We obtained an understanding of the legal and
regulatory frameworks that the group operates in,
and identified the key laws and regulations that:

» had adirect effect on the determination of materiat
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
These included UK Companies Act, Tax Legislation,
pensions legislation; and

+ do not have a direct effect on the financial
statements but compliance with which may be
fundamental to the group’s ability to operate or to
avoid material penalty. These include the Solicitors
Regulation Authority.

We discussed among the audit engagement team
including relevant internal specialists (including Tax,
WIP analytics and IT) regarding the opportunities
and incentives that may exist within the organisation
for fraud and how and where fraud might occur in the
financial statements.

As aresult of performing the above, we identified the
greatest potential for fraud in the following areas, and
our specific procedures performed to address them are
described below:
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Management uses the expected value method to
assess past experience and historical performance

of similar contracts to estimate the probability of a
successful cutcome of a case. The estimated amount
of consideration is based on the expected fee for the
nature of the legal service provided with reference to

historical fee levels and the relative probabitity rates of

successful and unsuccessful outcomes. This is based on
historicat information with judgements made within
the model which gives rise to potential fraud risk.

To address this risk, below procedures have been
performed;

* Reviewed management’s controls around revenue
recognition process;

Performed sample testing on the accuracy and
completeness of the data sets used within the
model for both historical and current data sets;

+ Tested the mathematical accuracy of the
valuation; and

+ Forrevenue recognised in the year, a 100% cash to
revenue reconcitiation was completed with sample
testing undertaken on the reports used.

By their very nature, claims against motor insurance
companies or self-insuring organisations can be
subject to dispute. A dilution rate is applied to gross
revenue to recognise the fact that there mightbe a
settlement adjustment with the insurer if the insurer
disputes any element of the ctaim. The discount
applied is judgmentat.

To address this risk, below procedures have been
performed;

* Reviewed management’s controls around revenue
recegnition process; and

» Assessed the reasonability of the provision through
sample testing of the underlying historical data.

L R 21
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Income raised close to the year end has been
pinpointed as a significant risk due to the judgement in
assessing the value of the billings.

To address this risk, below procedures have been
performed;

Reviewed management's controls around
revenue recognition process;

Tested a sample of items and agreed to cash
received, and

+ Tested a sample of revenue items to invoice
to test for accuracy and agreed to supporting
documentation,

In commen with all audits under 1SAs (UK), we

are also required to perform specific procedures

to respond to the risk of management override. in
addressing the risk of fraud through management
override of controts, we tested the appropriateness
of journal entries and other adjustments; assessed
whether the judgements made in making accounting
estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and
evaluatedthe business rationale of any significant
transactions that are unusual or outside the normal
course of business.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to
the risks identified included the foilowing:

+ reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing
to supporting documentation to assess compliance
with provisions of relevant laws and requlations
described as having a direct effect on the financial
statements;

performing analytical procedures to identify any
unusual or unexpected retationships that may
indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud;

enquiring of managementand in-house legal
counsel concerning actual and potential litigation
and claims, and instances of non-compliance with
laws and regulations; and

reading minutes of meetings of those charged with
governance.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the
course ofthe audit:

the informaticn given in the strategic report and the
directors’ report for the financiat year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with
the financial statements; and

the strategic report and the directors' report have
heen prepared in accordance with applicable legal
reguirements.



In the light of the knowledge and understanding

of the group and of the parent company and their
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we
have not identified any material misstaternents in the
strategic report or the directors’ report.

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are requiredto
report in respect of the following matters if, in our
opinion:

adequate accounting records have not been kept

by the parent company, or returns adequate for
our audit have not been received from branches not
visited by us; or

the parent company financial statements are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns;
or

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration
specified by law are not made; or

we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.
Use of cur report

This report is made solely to the company’s members,
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Past 16 of
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the company’s
members those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assurme responsibitity to anyone other than
the company and the company’s members as a body,
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions
we have formed.

-

;
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Heather J Crosby Bsc ACA (Senior statutory auditor)

i3 January 2023

For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditer

Manchester

United Kingdom
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Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

For the year ended 3| December 202|

YEAR ENDED 3 DECEMBER 2024 YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2020
4‘3" ¥

Ravenue 3 28,280 14,320 112,600 15,173 42,940 158,113
Cost of sales {10y (9,324) (9,434) (238} (26,251 {26,489)
Gross profit 98,170 4,996 103,166 114,935 16,689 131,624
Other income 4 364 191 555 545 4t 956
noop:_“f;:grfi;;‘?:;ﬁsbe“re 5 (98,148) (5,460) (I03,608) (116,080} 33,860 (129,940)
Operating profit / (loss) before 386 (273) n3 (600) 3,239 2,639
non-recurring items

Non-recurring items 5 (8,13 (4,162 (12,293) {10,561} {713) (,2743
Loss on disposal of subsidiary 6 - (29} {29) - - -
L.oss on share issuance 21 - - - {100) - {100}
Operating (loss) / profit 5 (7,745) (4,464) (12,209) 1,261y 2,526  (8,735)
Net finance costs 9 {10,208) (2213 (10,429 (9,078) (244 (9,322
{Loss) / profit before tax (i7,953) (4,685) (22,638) {20,339) 2,282 (18,057)
Income tax (expense} / credit 10 (3) (148} (51 (45) 18

The accomparying nates on pages 35 to 60 form an integral part of these financial statements.



32

Consolidated statement
of financial position

At 3l December 2021

Non-current assets

Intangible assets It 14,538 13,453
Property, plant and equipment 12 10,366 18,662
Deferred tax assets 13 - 41
Workin progress 14 16,924 i8,245
Trade and other receivables 1S 16,017 17,028
Total non-current assets 57,845 67,429
Current assets

Deferred tax assets 13 2 -
Work in progress 14 124,109 122,098
Trade and other receivables 15 150,528 150,229
Cash and cash equivalents 16 11,519 13,775
Total current assets 286,158 286,102
Total assets 344,003 353,531
Current Llabllities

Trade and other payables 17 {73,348 164,469
Lease liabilities 18 3,086 3,035
Current tax 74 115
Provisions 12 6,330 7,265
Loans 20 - 33,801
Total current Uabllities 182,838 208,685
Non-current liabllities

Trade and other payables 17 14,451 13,305
Lease liabilities 18 16,408 21,985
Provisions 19 1,666 1,65l
Loans 20 43,484 -
Total non-current Labllities 76,049 36,941
Total liabilitles 258,887 245,626
Equity

Share premium 21 23,901 23,901
QOwn shares 22 {124) (124)

Retained earnings 61,339 84,128

The accompanying notes on pages 35 to 60 form an integral part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were approved by the board of Directors and authorised for issue on |3 January 2023,
Theywere signed on its behalf by:

b O

N | Stoesser Chief Executive Officer

Company number:109773ll



Consolidated statement
of changes in equity

For the year ended 3! December 202i
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Balance at | January 2020 - 23,549 - 102,159 125,708
Loss after tax for the year - - - (18,084) (18,084)
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - (8,084) {(18,084)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners

Issue of shares - 352 - - 352
Own shares purchased - - (229) - (229}
Own shares utilised - - 105 53 158
Total tr: ctions with s In thelr capacity as owners - 352 (124) 53 28
Balance at 3| December 2020 - 23,901 {124) 84,128 107,905
Loss after tax for the year - - - (22,789 (22,789

(22,789)

(22,789)

The accompanying notes on pages 35 ta 60 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement
of cash flows

Forthe year ended 31 December 2021

Operating activities

Loss before tax from continuing operations {17,953) (20,339)

(Loss) / prefit before tax from discontinued operations (4,685} 2,282
Loss before tax for the year (22,638) (18,057)
Adjustments for:
Loss onshare issuance 20 - 100
Depretiation of property, plant and equipment 3,700 6,512
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,659 1,740
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 2] 64
Disposal of right-of -use assets 608 177
IFRS 16 lease modifications 156 (833)
Finarce costs 9 10,439 9,371
Interest income g () (49)
Changes in working capital:
(Increase) in work in progress 14 (690) (13,949)
Decrease in trade and other receivables 15 712 7,469
Increase in trade and other payables 17 10,066 12,81
{Decrease) in provisions 19 (520) (4,004
Cash generated from operations 3,202 1,352
Interest received 9 10 49
Interest paid g (3,407) (2,5t0)
Income tax paid (85) (60)
Net cash outflow from operating actlivities 2803 (1,270}
Net cash from operating activities - continuing 2,012 (400)
MNet cash fram operating activities - discontinued (2,292} (8703
Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (41 (16)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary 1,142 -
Purchases of software deveiopment and assets under construction (2,785) (3,539)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, equipment - 3
Net cash outflow from Investing activities (1.684) (3,652)
Net cash from investing activities - continuing (1,684} (3,622)
Net cach from investing activities - discontinued - €19
Financing activities
Issue of share capital 2 - 252
Purchase of own shares 22 - (22%)
Proceeds from issue of own shares - 158
Lozn drawdown / (repayrment) 5,000 (314)
Repayment of tease lLiabilities (5,292) (7,252)
Net cash cutflow from financing activities (292) (7.385)
Net cash from financing activities - cantinuing 58 (6,998)
Net cash from financing activities - discontinued (350} {387)
Net decrease In cash and cash equivalents (2,256) {12,307)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial

The accompanying notes on pages 35 to 60 form an integral part of these financial statements

13,775
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Notes to the consolidated
financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 202!
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The following is a summary of significant accounting
policies adopted by the consolidated group of Slater
and Gordon UK Holdings Limited (“the Group™)
inthe preparation and presentation of the financial
statements. The accounting policies have been
consistently applied, unless ctherwise stated.

The parent company of the Group is Slater and
Gordon LUK Holdings Limited {*“the Company”),

a private company limited by shares, incorporated
in England and Wales and domicited in the United
Kingdom (*UK") under the Caompanies Act 2006.
The consolidated financial statements comprise the
Company and its controlled entities referred to in
note 23, together referred to as "the Group” and
individually as “Subsidiaries”.

This inancial report is a general purpose financial
report that has been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“1FRS's")
as adopted by the United Kingdom and the Companies
Act 2006. The consolidated financial statements was
authorised for issue by the Directors as at the date in
the Directors’ report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Pounds Sterling (GBP) which is the functional
currency of the Company and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand (£'000), except when
otherwise indicated.

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statement requires the use of certain estimates and
judgementsin applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The estimates and judgements thatare
significant to the financial report are disclosed in
note 2.

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements are prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by
revaiuations to fair value for certain classes of assets as
described in the accounting policies.

Impact of new and amendments to IFRS's

The Group adopted the foliowing amendments to
IFRS's from i January 2021:

Amendments to IFRS 9, 1AS
39,iFRS 7, iFRS 4 and IFRS
16

Amendments to
presentation of iinancial
statements on classification
of liabilities

Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform

Amendmentstc lAS|

The adoption of the amendments tisted above did
not have any impact on the amounts recognised in
prior and current periods. No impact is expected in
future periods.

Amendments to IFRS’s in issue but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial
statements, the Group has not appiied the following
amendments to [FRS's that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

Insurance Contracts
(effective from 1 January
2023)

Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent
Assets {effective from i
January 2022)

IFRS 17

Amendments to |AS 37

Effective from |
January 2022

Annual improvements
to IFRS 2018-2020

The Directors do not expect that the amendments to
the IFRS's listed above will have a material impact on
the financial statements of the Group in future periods.
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The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and atl of

its controlled entities. Control is achieved where

the Company has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity, hasthe rights to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The financial statements of controlled entities are
prepared using consistent accounting policies.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies which may exist. All intercompany
balantes and transactions, including any unrealised
profits or losses, are eliminated on consolidation.
Controlied entities are consotidated from the date on
which control is estabtished and are de-recognised
from the date that control ceases.

The Group assesses each transaction to determine
whether it is a business combination or an asset
acquisition under tFRS 3 "Business Combinations”. A
business combination is a transaction or other event

in which an acquirer obtains control of one or more
businesses and results in the consalidation of the assets
and liabilities acquired. Business combinations are
accounted for by applying the acquisition method.

The consideration transferred is the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred,
equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred by the
acquirer to former owners of the acquired. Deferred
consideration payable is measured at fair value.
Contingent consideration to be transferred by

the acquirer is recognised at the acquisition-date

fair value.

Goodwill is initially recognised as the excess over

the cansideration transferred at the acquisition

date and the fair value of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. The fair value of any
non-cantrolling interest or previousiy held equity
interest (in the case of a step acquisition) are added
where relevant.

If the fair value of the acquirer’s interest is greater
than the aggregate of the consideration transferred,
the fair value of the non-controlling interest, and the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest (in case of step acquisition), the
gain is immediately recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as a gain from
bargain purchase.

For an asset acquisition the cost of the assets and
liabilities acquired are allocated on the basis of their
relative fair value at the date of acquisition.

A discontinued operation is a component of the
business that represents a separate major line of
business that has been disposed of, is held for sale or
abandoned. Classification as a discontinued operation
occurs when the operation meets the criteria to

be discontinued {either through abandonment or
disposal) or when the operation meets the criteria

to be classified as held for sale or to be abandened,

if earlier. When an operation is classified as a
discontinued operation, the comparative statement
of comprehensive income and statement of cash
flows are reclassified as if the operation had been
discontinued from the start of the comparative period.

The financial statements have been preparedon a
going concern basis,

At 3] December 2021, the Group had net assets of
£85.Imand cash of EIl.5m.

The Group has prepared cash flow forecasts for the
period to 30 June 2024, based on key assumptions
around the achievement of revenues, the costs and
working capital required to generate these revenues.
The Directors have considered the tevel of new
instructions and the iikely future value of this work
together with the forecasts and projected cash flow
patterns of the Group for the foreseeable future, being
a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval
of these financial statements.

The Group's projections for the peried to 30 June
2024 including receipts and payments indicate that the
Group expects to be able to discharge its obligations
to all stakeholders. Business activity and cash flows
are monitored on a weekly basis and continue to be
satisfactory. Regular financial forecasts are prepared
to monitor the Group’s funding requirements to
demonstrate the Group's ability to meet its working
capital requirements, to meet tiabilities when they
fall due and to comply with regulatory capital
requirements.

The Group has considered the impact of the globat
economy on the cashflow forecasts, including the
aftermath of the Covid-19 pandemic, the continuing
rise of inflation and the geopolitical issues in Ukraine.
The forecasts are based on a prudent level of intake
growth, with road traffic volumes and court processes
seeing a return to pre Covid-i9 {evels. The successful
settlement of the VW case enabled the Group to
increase cash during FY22.

As part of looking at the period of the projections

the Group has also assessed its access te financing.
Historically this has been provided through a
shareholder loan facility and a working capital facility.



The shareholder Loan facility, including accrued
interest, was £43.5m as at 3| December 202] and was
fully drawn down (2020: £33.8m). On 10 June 2022,
following the successful settlement of the Volkswagen
class action, the Group repaid the shareholder loan of
£46.8m (including interest), in accordance with the
contractyal terms of the loan facility.

The working capital facility had £31.4m drawn at 3|
December 2021 (2G20: £20.9m). in common with
most asset based facilities this is an on demand facility,
meaning that the lending vousiterpart has the ability to
restrict or cease to allow drawdowns at short notice.
This has been the case since the inception of the facility
in2019.

The current provider of the working capital facility has
informed the Group that it is attempting to refinance
its own business given repayment commitments under
its own facilities. If these refinancing activities are not
successful the current provider has indicated it will

not be able to continue funding the Group’s working
capital facitity. In these circumstances the Group will
need to find alternative working capital financing. The
Birectors’ assessment of going concern assumes that
the Group will have access to at least £25m of working
capital funding, on terms that are substantially similar
to current terms. The groupis in ongoing discussions
with the current lender, and other lenders, with the
support of professianat advisors, to secure this level of
funding for the period of the projections.

The Directors have reasonable expectations that

the Group will have access to the necessary working
capital financing based on current discussions with

its lenders and other potential lenders, in particutar
given the availability of unsecured net assets of
approximately £130m at 30 November 2022
(unaudited management accounts). Accordingly, the
Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing these financial statements.

If the Group were not able to access at least £25m
of working capital funding during the period of the
projections these events or conditions constitute a
material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt over the Group’s ability to continue as

@ going concern.

Legol services

* Personul injury law cloims

The personal injury taw business operates a No Win

= No Fee conditional fee arrangement, whereby fees
are earned only in the event of a successful claim
outcome. Contracts with customers comprise a single
distinct performance obligation, being the provision
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of services in pursuit of the successful settlement of
a customer’s ciaim. Upon successful settlement, the
performance obligations in the contract are satished.

The Group recognises revenue for personal injury
matters over time and when a claim is highly probable
on a portfolio basis of a successful outcome. Revenue
represents the fair value of the consideration
receivable in respect of services delivered during the
year and is shown excluding disbursements. Where

a contract has only been partially completed at the
year-end date, revenue is recognised proportionally
based on the stage of completion of the performance
obligation.

« Consumer legal services

Revenue from the provision of consumer legal services
is recognised over time when services are rendered
based on the stage of completion of the single

distinct performance obligation.

» Collective actions

Revenue from the provision of collective actions
services is recognised over time when services are
rendered based on the stage of completion of the
single distinct performance obligation, when the
claim is highly probable of a successful outcome.
Certain collective actions matters are undertaken on
a partially funded basis. In such arrangements, the
funded portion of fees is recognised in line with the
billing schedule and is not contingent on the successful
outcome of the litigation.

The legal services revenue streams do not contain a
significant financing component because a substantial
amount of the consideration isvariable and dependent
on whether a future event occurs that is not within the
control of the customer or the Group.

Ancillary revenue - provision of non-legal services

« Vehicle hire and repair

Revenue from the provision of car repair services is
recognised on completion of all repair work and upon
the customer taking back possession of the car.

Revenue from the provision of car hire and cost
recovery services are recognised over the time that the
services are performed, being the period between the
commencement of the car hire and settlement of costs
through the Third-Party Insurer (" TPI").

Accrued income is recorded based on the provision

of car recovery services where the services provided
overlap the year end date and the final invoice has not
been billed to the customer.

» Medical reports and rehabilitation services

Revenue from the provision of medical appointments
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is recognised atthe point in time when the medical
reportis received from the medical expert. The
amount of revenue recognised is based on the fee
structure agreed with the customer. Thisvalue
remains in accrued income until the medicaf reportis
issued to the Instructing Party (“1P") at which pointa
request for payment is raised.

Revenue from the provision of rehabilitation services
is recognised at the point in time when the course

of treatment is completed, and the final assessment
or discharge report is issued to the IP. The amount
of revenue recognised is based on the fee structure
agreed with the IP.

Government grants are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
expenses for the related costs for which the grants are
intended to compensate. General government grants
for which there is no specified purpose are recognised
in other income.

Incame or costs which are both material and
exceptional or one-off in nature, whose significance
is sufficient to warrant separate disclosure in the
financial statements, are referred to ss non-recurring
items, The Directors consider that the separate
disclosure of these items assists in understanding the
Group's financial performance.

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred, except for borrowing costs incurred
as part of the refinancing of the shareholder loan
which are disclosed as other receivables in note 15.
Borrowing costs includes finance charges in respect of
leases and interest accrued on the shareholders’ loan
and working capital facility in place.

Income tox

The tax expense for the year comprises of current

and deferred tax and is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. Under certain circumstances,
tax is recognised either in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, depending on the item that the
tax relatesto.

The current income tax charge is calculated on

the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the statement of financial position date
inthe UK where the Group operates and generates
taxable income.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carryingamounts

in the Group's financial statements. However,
deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or Liability in a transaction,
other than a business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
determined using the current income tax charge
defined above and isshown net in the statement of
financial position.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that

it is highly probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised, The deferred tax assets are reviewed at
each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that
itis nolonger probable that the retated tax benefit will
be realised.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
each reporting date and recognised to the extent that
it has become probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which they can be used.

Vaiue Added Tax ("VAT')

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the
amount of VAT, except where the VAT incurred is not
recoverable from Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs
("HMRC") or Malta Inland Revenue ("MIR") and is
therefore recognised as part of the asset’s cost oras
part of the expense item, Receivables and payables are
stated inclusive of VAT.

The net amount of VAT payable to HMRC/MIR
is included as part of current payables in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash
flows on a gross basis, except for the VAT component
of investing and financing activities, which are
disclosed as operating cash flows. Commitments

and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of
VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the relevant
taxation authority.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
date of the transacticons. Foreign currency monetary
items that are cutstanding at the reporting date are
translated using the spot rate at the end of the financial
year. Monetary items held under foreign currency
contracts with an explicit exchange rate are translated
at that contractual rate.



Software development costs

Acquired software licenses and expenditure on
developing software and other computer systems,
providing they meet the criteria for recognition under
iAS 38 “Intangible Assets”, are capitalised and held

at historic cost {ess accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Each asset is
amortised from the date the asset is available for use
on a straight-line basis over its finite useful economic
life of 5-8 years.

Expenditure on research activities and maintenance of
the software programmes is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.

Assets under construction

The recognition of assets held under construction is
expenditure on developing software platforms that
will benefit the Group in the future. Untit the asset
becomes fully operational for its intended use, no
amortisation is charged. Once operational, these
assets are transferred to software development costs
and are amortised over its finite useful economic iife of
5-8 years.

Trodemarks

Trademarks acquired in a business combination are
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
{which is regarded as their cost). The fair value of
trademarks is based on the discounted estimated
royalty payments that have been avoided as a result
of the trademark being owned. Trademariks have
been assessed as having an infinite useful life and in
accordance with tAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” are
tested annually for impairment.

Customer relationships

The fair value of customer relationships acquired in a
business combination is determined using the multi-
period excess earnings method, whereby the asset

is valued after deducting a fair return on all other
assets that are part of creating the related cash flows.
They are assessed as having a finite useful life and are
amortised over their useful tife of 3 years.

Amortisation of intangible assets is expensed to
operating expenses cn the face of the statement of
comprehensive income,

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment Losses.
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Depreciation

The depreciable amounts of property, plant and
equipment are depreciated over their estimated
useful tives, commencing from the time the asset is
ready for use. Leased assets are depreciated over the
sherter of the lease term and their usefut lives untess
it is reasonably certain that the Group wilt obtain
ownership by the end of the lease term.

The depreciation rates used for each class of assets are:

Fixtures, fittings and

; 3-5years
computer equipment

Straight Line

Right-of-useassets | =15 years Straight Line

Leasehold improvements Length of tease Straight Line

An asset's residual vatue and useful life is reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount, These
gains and losses are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

All property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets are reviewed for impairment at each financial
year end in accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets” if there s an indication that the carrying value
of the asset may have been impaired.

Animpairment loss is recognised for the amount

at which the assets carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amountis the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to seil and
value in use. The value in use is calculated using future
estimated cash flows, discounted by the appropriate
cost of capitat resulting from the use of those assets.
Assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units}.

Anyimpairment losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Work in progress represents revenue from the
provision of leqal services which are highly probable
of a successful outcome, which have not yet reached
a conclusion and are not yet invoiced at the year end.
The revenue is recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy noted in If.
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The Group allocates work in progress between current
and non-current classifications based on a historical
analysis of the rates of completion for the Group’s
work in progress balances to determine expected
future timing of settlements.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand,
deposits held on call with banks and short-term
deposits with an original maturity of three manths
or less, It includes any amounts held in escrow. For
the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivatents as defined above, net of outstanding
banking overdrafts.

Under the Solicitors Accounts Rules 2019 the Group is
required to have a separate bank account to hold and
receive client money. This must be under the name

of the relevant entity and the name of the account
must also include the word ‘client’. All client money
must be held in a client account. Client monies do not
appearin the financial statements.

Trade receivables are amounts due from custormers
for services performed, completed and invoiced in
the ordinary course of business. These are due for
settlement within one year and are therefore ail
classified as current. Due to the short-term nature of
the trade receivables, their fair value is considered to
be equal to their carrying value.

Cotlectability of trade receivables is reviewed at each
reporting date. Management considers whether an
impairment of trade receivables is required based on
the ageing profile and uses calculated historic rates of
recovery to determine the required impairment. Debts
that are known to be uncollectable are written off
when identified. These are recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income.

The Group acts as an agent for disbursements,
which are only recognised when it is assessed that a
reimbursement witl be received from the customer
or on their behatf. Disbursements are treated as

a separate asset. The amount recognised for the
expected reimbursement does not exceed the
relevant costs incurred. The amount of any expected
reimbursement is reduced by an ailowance for non-
recovery based on past experience.

The Group applies the IFRS & “Financial fnstruments”
simplified approach to measure the expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables, work in progress and
disbursements, which are grouped based on shared
credit and market risk characteristics and days
overdue. For balances in consumer legal services,

the expected loss rates are based on the three-year
historic default rate experienced for each aged

group of items. For all other business units, thereis

no history of credit toss owing to the nature of the
counterparties. The average expected credit loss rates
for consumer legal services is detailed as follows:

Trade receivables

0-30 days 1.97% 0.75%
31 - 60 days 4.34% 1 94%
61 - 90 days 6.20% 3.42%
9i+ days 100.00% 100.00%%
Disbursements 1.97% 0.75%

The expected credit loss provision movement
is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Accrued income represents the revenue recognised

in accordance with the Group’s revenue recognition
policy to the extent it has not been invoiced. Due to the
short-term nature of accrued income, their fairvalue
is considered to be equal to their carrying value.

Trade payables, accruals and legal creditors are
obligations to pay for services that have been provided
to the Group prior to the end of the financial year
which are unpaid. Trade payables, accruals and legal
creditors are classified as current liabilities if payment
is due within one year or less.

The Group has a working capital facility in place
whereby a third party will lend on expected agreed
costs and paid disbursements and liability admitted
WP on personal injury (No Win - No Fee) cases. This
facility is disclosed in other payabies.

Short-term employee benefit obligations

Liabitities for wages and salaries, annual leave and

any other employee benefits that are expected to be
settled within twelve months of the reporting date are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabitities are settled. The liabilities are presented in
other payables.

Defined contribution pension plan

The Group contributes to a defined contribution

plan in respect of employee services rendered during
the year. The Group recognises a liability and an
expense as they are incurred. The pension {iability is
presented in social security and pension payable in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment
of an employee orgroup of employees is terminated
before the normal retirement date, or when the



entity provides termination benefits as a result of
an offer made and accepted in order to encourage
voluntary redundancy.

The Group recognises a provision for termination
benefits when the Group can no longer withdraw

the offer of those benefits, or if earlier, when

the termination benefts are included in a formal
restructuring plan that has been announced to those
affected by i.. if benefits are not expected to be settled
wholly within I2 months of the reporting date,

then they are discounted and presented as non-
current Liabilities.

A lease is defined as a contract that conveys the

right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration. Atthe
commencement date of a lease, a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present
value of expected future lease payments discounted
atthe interest rate implicit in the lease. Lease
incentives are recognised as part of the measurement
of the lease Liability. In determining the lease term,
management considers alt facts and circumstances
that create an economic incentive to not exercise a
termination option. Periods after termination options
or break clauses are only included in the lease term if
the lease is reasonably certain to not be terminated.
Subsequently the iease Liability decreases by the lease
payments made, offset by the interest on the liability
which isrecognised as a finance cost in the statement
of comprehensive income.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at

cost, being the value of the lease liability at the
commencement date, The asset is depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the expected term of the lease
and is tested for impairment in accordance with 1AS 36
“Impairment of Assets”.

The Group has elected to use the recognition
exemptions for short-term leases (defined as leases
with a lease term of |2 months or less) and leases of
tow value assets (defined as leases with a value of
less than £4,000) which are expensed to
administrative expenses on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.

Provisians for liabilities are recognised when the
Group has a present, legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, for which it is probable that
an cutflow of resources wilt be required to settle the
obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated.
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Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligaticn at the end of the
reporting period.

Classification

The Group classifies its financial instrurments in the
following measurement categeries:

* Those to be measured subseguently at fair value;
* Those to be measured at amortised cost; or

» Those to be measured at the present value, where
future cash flows have been discounted.

Non-derivative financiol instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments consist of
investments in equity, trade and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings,
lease Liabitities, provisions and trade and other
payables. Non-derivative financial instruments

are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly
attributabie transaction costs (ifany), except for
instruments recorded at fair value through profitor
loss. After initial recogrition, non-derivative financial
instruments are measured as described below.

Financial assets

The Group holds financial assets at fair vatue
consisting of trade and other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents.

Impairment of financiol assets

Financial assets are reviewed for impairment at

each financial yearend in accordance with |AS 36
“Impairment of Assets” if there is an indication that the
carrying value of the asset may have been impaired,
Fortrade and other receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9 “Financial
tnstruments”, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition.

Financial licbilities

Financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
lease liabilities and loans and borrowings. Non-
derivative financial liabilities are recognised at
presentvalue, comprising of the original debt ptus
interest less principal payments. The implied interest
expense is recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directty in the statement
of comprehensive income.

Lease liabilities are held at the present value of
expected future payments discounted at the interest
rate implicit in the {ease. Liabilities are classified as
current if the obligation falls due within one year.
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FoC ritiesl st ounting fusdgements and bay

sonrces Gf cstimaton uneart ainty

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies, the carrying amounts
reported for assets and liabilities as at the reporting
date and the amounts reported for revenues and
expenses during the year. The judgements, estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates,

The following are the critical judgements that the
Directors have made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in
financial statements.

Revenue recognition — Performance obligation and
stage of completion

Management is required to assess the single distinct
performance obligation in a contract. Some personal
injury contracts contain muttiple deliverables but
given the significant integration of services, these are
collectively considered to represent a single distinct
performance obligation, which is the pursuit of the
successful settlement of a customer’s claim. The
Group has some contractuat arrangements outside
of personal injury matters that include multipie
performance obligations. Inthese instances, the
transaction price is allocated to the performance
obligations on a relative standalone selling price basis
as identified in the contract.

Management is required to make judgements in
determining the progress of a case as it reaches
completion of the performance obligation. A stage
of completion approach is used to measure progress.
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and
rewards of a service istransferred to the customer
or, when the claim is highly probable of a successful
outcame. Where a contract has only been partially
completed at the year-end date, the fair value of
revenue is recognised if the consideration can be
measured reliably. The stage of completion is either
linked to specific key stages in the life of a case based
on a review of the work required to be done at each
stage or the age of a case, depending on the nature of
the matter.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an angoing basis, Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period(s) to which
theyrelate.

Impairment of intangible assets

Following the assessment of the recoverable
amount of the trademark acquired in a prior business
combination, the fair value of £5.7mis considered
recoverable by the Directors. The sensitivity
analysis in respect of the recoverable amount for the
Trademark shows no indications of an impairment.

Management has estimated the future income
attributable to the trademark and has used applicable
royalty rates and discount rate. Budgets used include
forecasts of revenue based on current and anticipated
market conditions that have been considered and
approved by the Board. Naturally, the revenue
projections are uncertain due to the nature of the
business and variable market conditions. Revenue is
most sensitive to changes inthe revenue attributable
to each business sector, particularly surrounding the
personal injury services given that this is the largest
service provided by the Group. Overalt market
conditions have seen a significant slowdown since the
outbreak of the Covid-t9 pandemicin 2020.

Provision for claims against the Groug

The liability represents the cost of open and potential
future claims in process at the year end brought
against the Group by former customers. In estimating
the fair value of the liability, management uses
market-observable data, to the extent it is available,
which is based on past experience and historical
performance of simitar matters and expected
reimbursed expense on a case by case basis. The
provision estimate reflects the potential amount
payabtie by the Group under its Professionat indemnity
Insurance Policy based on historical information and
facts pertinent to the individual claim if material. The
carrying value of the provision for claims is detailed in
note 19,

Revenue recognition — Estimating the transaction price

The Group provides various legal services on the basis
of No Win - No Fee conditionat fee arrangements.
The uncertainty around the fees received under thase
types of contracts is generally only resolved when a
matter is concluded.



Management uses the expected value method to

assess past experience and historical performance

of similar contracts to estimate the probabitity of a
successful outcome of a case. The estimated amount

of consideration is based on the expected fee for the
nature of the legal service provided with reference to
historical fee levels and the relative probability rates of
successful and unsuccessful outcomes.

In some circumstances, the Group has limited
historical experience with similar contracts and

thus management are required to use judgement to
determine the likelihood of success of a given matter,
aswell asthe estimated amount of fees that will be
recovered in respect of the matter.

Fees are only included in revenue to the extent that
it is highly probable that the cumulative amount of
revenue recognised in respect of a contract at the end
of a reporting period will not be subject to significant
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reversal when a matter is concluded. Revenue
generated from legal services is detailed in note 3.

Working capital facility

As disclosed in note le, the availability of the working
capital facility remains uncertain and is a key
judgementin relation to going concern at the date of
signing these accounts. The Directors’ have carried
out a geing concern assessment and have applied
judgement in assessing that the Group will have access
to at least £25m of working capital funding, on terms
that are substantially similar 1o current terms, in
concluding on the Group's going concern. Discussions
with the current and other lenders remain ongoing,
with the support of professional advisors, to ensure
that this is the case for the period of the projections.
The current lender has expressed a nen-fegally
binding intention to continue the facility through to
December 2023.

Continuing operations

Legal services
Ancillary revenue
Total revenue

8,280 115,116

4. Other income

Continuing operations

The Group continued to use the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme in the year ended 3i December 2021
This resulted in the Group receiving a government grant which provided funding for salaries of employees
whose roles were impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic. The totat receipt is shown gross since the grant has no

conditions attaching to it.

The following items have been charged / (credited) to the statement of comprehensive income to arrive at the

operating loss:

Continuing operations:

Amortisation of intangible assets

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Loss on dispasal of property, plant and equipment
Loss on exited right -of-use assets

IFRS 16 lease madifications

Auditor's remuneration for the audit of the Group's financial statements

1,657 1,682
3,468 6,160
44 55
554 177
156 (861
253 322
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Audit and audit-related services

Continuing operations:

Audit of the Company and Group financial statements 45 45
Audit of the inancial statements of subsidiaries of the Company 160 160
Other Audit Services (Solicitor Regulation Authority) 48 48
Audit relating to prior periods - 69
Total sudit services for continuing operations 253 322

Discontinued operations:
Audit of the financial statements of subsidiaries of the Company

Total audit services for discontinued op fons

Continuing operations

Adjusted EBITDA’ 5,667 6,382
{FRS 16 lease modifications (156} 86l
Lossonshare issusnce - {100)
Amortisation of intangible assets {I,657) (1,682}
Depreciation of praoperty, plant and equipment (3,468) (6,161)
Non-recurring nems (8,130 (10,561)
Opaerating loss (7,745) {15, 260)
N 08

9,078}

[1j Adjusted EBITDA: The Group calculates adjusted EBITDA as operating profit before mterest, tax, depreciation, smaortisation, effects of IFRS 16 lease
modifications, Loss on share issuance and excludes non-recurring items. The Directors believe that adjusted EBITDA is the most appropniate approach for
ascertaining the underlying trading performance and trends as it reflects the measures used internally by senior management for alt discussions of performance.

YEAR ENDED 3t DECEMBER 202|

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Vs « . NI P

Redundancies 2,068
Restructuring costs 5,553
Legal costs relating to Watchstone -
Legacy litigation 510

Non-recurring items are costs or income that have
been recognised in the staternent of comprehensive
income which the Directors believe, due to their
nature or size, should be disclosed separately to give
a more comparable view of year on year underlying
performance. Non-recurring items include costs
associated with, but not limited to, restructuring the
business including redundancies and legat costs.

Redundancy costs of £2.1m (2020: £2.9m) relate
to early termination of staff employment due to the
restructure of businesses, or in business areas or
locations which are not being continued.

- 2,068 2,597 290 2,887
4,162 9,715 5,732 423 6,155
- - 42 - 42
- 510 2,190 - 2,190

Restructuring costs totalling £9.7m (2020: £6.2m)
include £4.2m (2020: £0.4m) in relation to additionat
asset provisions and onerous contracts in discontinued
operations. The remaining costs totaliing £5.6m
(2020: £5.7m) are for office closures and relocations,
and expenditure on technology. These costs are
classified as exceptional due to the strategic one-off
nature of the project which is expected to conclude in
2022 dueto the delays from the Covid-I19 Pandemic.

The Group has incurred costs of £EG.5m (2020:
E2.2m) associated with historical litigation cases.
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During the year ended 3| December 202!, under the criteria of IFRS 5 “Non-current assets heid for sale and
discontinued operations”, the Group has classified three businesses as discontinued operation:

» Mobile Doctors Limited (“Health™)
* Overland Group (Overland Health Limited, Overland Malta Trading Limited, Overland Limited} {(“Health")
* SGS Business Process Services (UK) Limited {“Motor')

The results of the discontinued operations, which have been included in the consolidated staternent of
wallipt gl ignsive income, were as follows:

YEARENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021 YEAR ENDED 3|1 DECEMBER 2020

Discontinued operations

Revenye 1,687 12,633 14,320 16,615 26,325 42,940
Cost of sales (1,034 (8,250} {9,324) (9,332) (16,919) (26,250)
Gross profit 653 4,343 4,996 7,283 9406 16,689
Other income - 191 191 - 41l 41
Operating expenses before non-recurring items 882 (6,342) (5,460) (3,897) (9,964) (13,861)
Operating profit / (loss) before non-recurring items 1,535 {1,808) (273) 3,386 (147) 3,239
Pre tax Loss on disposal of subsidiary (see note 6¢) (29; - (29 - - -
Non-recurring items (301} (3,861) (4,162) (76) (637) (713)
Operating profit / (loss) 1,205 (5,669) (4,464) 3,310 (784) 2,526
Net finance costs {1 (220) (221) {(19) (225) (244)
Profit / (loss) before tax 1,204 (5,889) (4,685) 3.291 (1,009) 2,282

Incame tax (expense) / credit {148) - (148) 358 {340} 18

In July 2020 the Group concluded a strategic review of the Overland entities (Overland Health Limited,
Overland Matta (Trading) Limited, Overtand Limited) channels to marlket. As a result of this review all
contracts were terminated. The Overland entities ceased trading on 21 January 2021. The closure meets the
criteria to be disclosed as discontinued operaticns under IFRS 5 for the year ended 3! December 2021

On 17 November 2021, a strategic decision was taken to restructure SGS Business Process Service (UK) Limited
{"Motor") principal activities. This has resulted in a significant reduction in the operations of Motor as third
party partnerships will provide the hire and repair business, rather than these being performed by Moter. All
contracted parties and employees were notified of the change in business activities pre year end, with new
partnership arrangements finalised in March 2022. Management intends to cease trade by May 2023. The
planned closure of Motor meets the criteria to be disclosed as discontinued operations under IFRS 5 for the year
ended 3| December 2021.
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On 8 March 2021 the Group sold Mobile Doctors Limited for a total consideration of £3.6m, of which £0.9m
was deferred and £2.0m contingent or the delivery of a specified number of Medical Reports to the buyer over
the next 5 years. The deferred consideration was received in December 202|. As the contingent consideration is
by its nature subject to some uncertainty, it has not been recognised as an asset as at 31 December 2021 and will
be recognised as the consideration is received. A loss on disposal of £29,000 was generated. The net assets of
Maobile Doctors Limited at the date of disposal were as follows:

Intangible assets b

Property, plant and equipment 66
Trade and other receivables 20,719
Cash and cash equivalents 558
Trade and other payables {19,800}
Lease liabilities (76)
Net assets 1,468
Other disposal costs 121

Loss on disposal recognised in profit for the year from discontinued operations (see note 6) {29}

Satisfied by:

Cash and cash equivalents 700
Deferred consideration 860
YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202I YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

U e e . e ra S

Discontinued operations

Net cash flow from operating activities {1,430} {862) (2,292) (475) (393) {870}
Net cash flow from investing activities - - -
N h flow fi i £l 12) (338) (350)

m#

The aggregate employee benefit expense, including Directors, comprised:

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2020
Wages and salaries 52,132 3,871 52,657 6,888
Social security costs 5,620 328 5,835 533
;:eoﬂrltrlbut\cns to defined contribution 3.67 92 3415 129

Frangement

Pension arrangement costs includes the defined contribution plan costs included within operating costs.
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The monthly average number of people, including Directors,; employed by the Group during the year was:

Headcount by type

Fee earner 692 650
Legal support 200 402
Shared services 687 659

During the year ended 3| December 202 remuneration was paid to five (2020: six) Directors.

The highest paid Director received remuneration, including termination benefits, of £363,000 (2020:
£576,000}.

included within the Directors’ emoluments figure above are termination benefits of Enil (2020: £223,680)
which are included in non-recurring items in the statement of comprehensive income.

During the year no {2020: two) Directors participated in the defined contribution pension arrangements.

YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021 YEARENDED 3| DECEMBER 2020

Interest receivable

Cn deposits 9 1 18] 49 - 49
Interest payable

Shareholders’ toan (4,684) - (4,684 (4,086} - {4,086}
Lease liabilities (2,126} (222} (2,348) {2,538) (237) (2,775}
Working capital facility (3,407) - (3,407) (2,503) (7 (2,510)

{10,2I7) 222)  (10,439) (2
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YEAR ENDED 3] DECEMBER 202}

YEAR ENDED 3i DECEMBER 2020

C FRERE L

Current tax

Qverseas current tax - 40 40 - {1,8i5) {1,81%)

Adjustment for current tax relating tc prior periods 3 9 12 42 (899) (857)
49 52 52 (2,714) (2,672)

Deferred tax {note I3}

Deferred tax for the current year - - 3 1841 1,844

Deferred tax asset derecognition - - ! 340 34

Change in tax rate on deferred tax brought forward - - - (5) (5)

Adjustment for deferred tax relating to prior periods - Q8 99 ()] 520 319

- 2,696

99 99 3

2,699

Factors affecting the totot tax charge for the year

The tax charge assessed on the loss on ordinary activities for the year is lower (2020: lower) than the standard
rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2020:199%). The differences are reconciled below:

L oss before tax from continuing and discontinued operations
At the statutory income tax rate of 1996 (2020:19%)

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible / (taxable) in coleulating taxoble income:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
MNon-taxable income an disposal of subsidiary
Adjustments in respect of prior periads

Change in tax rate on deferred tax brought forward
Deferred tax asset derecognition
Difference in overseas tax rate
Deferred tax assets not recognised

A reduction to the UK corporation tax rate down from
9% to I7% was announced in the 2016 Budget and
enacted on IS September 2016 {to be effective from i
April 2020). However, the 2020 Budget announced
that this reduction in rate would be reversed with i9%
being maintained from I April 2020.

Anincrease to the UK corporation tax rate from 19%
to 25% was announced in the 2021 Budget and was

(22,638) (18,057)
(4,301 (3,431)
1,272 709
(440) -

i} (338)

- (5)

- 341

n3) (92)

3,622 2,843

substantively enacted on 24 May 202I, effective from
I Aprit 2023. The changes in tax rates do not have a
currentimpact on the recognition of deferred tax

at 31 December 202|. Any future recognition of
deferredtax assets will be assessed on an annual
basis as appropriate.
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Cost

At 3l Decermnber 2020 4,077 3,575 5,726 1,096 1,550 26,024
Additions 2,785 - - - - 2,785
Transfers 3,545 (3,537 - - (8) -
Disposais from subsidiarres - - - - (285) (285)
Disposals - (38} - - (6,422} (6,460)
At 31 December 2021 10,407 - 5,726 1,096 4,835 22,064
Amortisation

At 31 Decemnber 2020 3,043 - - 1,096 8,432 12,57
Charge for the year 1,274 - - - 385 1,659
Disposals fram subsidiaries - - - - (284) (284)
Disposals - - - - (6,420) (6,420)

- - 2,13

3! Decomber 2021

7,526

Cost

At 3l December 2019 4,084 B4 5,726 1,096 11,550 22,540
Additions 2 3,537 - - - 3,539
Disposals (D) (46) - - - (55)
At 3] December 2020 4,077 3,575 5,726 1,096 11,550 26,024
Amortisation

At 3l December 2019 2,304 - - T62 7,765 10,831
Charge for the year 739 - - 334 667 1,740

- - 1,096 432

At 3] December 2020 3,043

Assets under construction included development
expenditure on portal systems recognised at cost.
The portals facilitate the provision of accessibie
legal solutions for customers through technolegy
and became operational during the year ended 3|
December 2021. These were transferred to software
development and are amortised on a straight-line
basis over its finite useful economic life of 5 years.

Trademarks are an indefinite Life intangible asset,
which were acquired through business combinations
and have been allocated to individual cash generating
units (“CGUs") in the UK business for the purposes of
impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of indefinite life intangible
asset allocated to each of the CGUs has been
determined based on a value in use calculation as
required by |AS 36 “Impoirment of Assets”. This uses
financiat budgets and cash flow projections approved
by senior management.

The value inuse is compared to the net carrying
amount of the CGU. If the calculated value in use
exceeds the net carrying amount, no impairment
loss is recorded.

12,571

Ferall CGUs a post-tax cost of capital of 10.2%
(2020:12%) has been applied. This cost of capital

has been assessed with reference to the Company’s
weighted average cost of capital and independent third
party analysis.

The customer relationships were recognised at their
fair vatue at the date of acquisition and have been
subsequently amortised on a straight line bas’s,
based on the timing of the projected cash flows on the
contracts over their estimated useful economic lives.

Included within acquired intangibles are software
ticences and fair vatue adjustments for WIP acquired
as part of a previous business combination. Software
ticences were recegnised at their fair value at the

date of acquisition and are subsequently amortised

on a straight-line basis, based on the timing of the
projected cash fiows on the contracts over their
estimated useful economic lives. WIP is recognised at
the present value of its future profit and is amortised in
line with the realisation of these profits.
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' Cost

At 3l Decermnber 2020 7,343 19,996 - 27,339
Additions 4] 1,525 - 1,566
Disposals from subsidiaries (514} s {665)
Disposals {665} (7,463) - {8,128}
At 31 December 2021 6,205 3,907 - 20,112
Depreciation

At 3] December 2020 3,376 5,301 - 83,677
Charge for the year 89| 2,809 - 3,700
Disposats from subsidiaries (&1 {(88) - (599)
Disposais (588) {1,444} B (2,032}

t 3] December

& ¢ 1

2021 3,168 6,578 - 9,746

Cost
At 3| December 2019 7,370 23,099 66 30,535
‘ IFRS 16 lease madifications - 1,71 - 71
‘ Additions I3 400 - 516
Dhsposals (143} (5,214) {66) (5,423)
At 31 December 2020 7,343 19,996 - 27,339
. Depreciation
' At 3l December 201$ 4,288 33 6,778
Charge for the year 5,429 33 6,512
Disposals {4 486> (66) (4,613)

1 At 31 December 2020 5,501 - 8,677

)

Right-of-use assets consist of properties and computer equipment under leases within the scope of (FRS16. The
IFRS 16 lease modifications has arisen from changes to payment terms of the lease obtigations.
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Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items due to the future taxable profits

nct being highly probable:

Tax losses
Property, plant and equipment
Other short-term timing differences

Deferred tax relates to the following:

52,857
3,143
250

Maltese refundable tax credit 2 -
Other short-term timing differences - 25
Property, plant and equipment 2,044 16
Revenue losses carried forward 2,046 1,626
Net deferred tax assets 2 1,667
Reflected in the statement of financial position as follows:

Deferrad tax assets 2,046 1,667
Deferred tax liabilities on intangibles (2,044) (1,626)
Net deferred tax assets 2 4
Non-current deferred tax asset 41
Current deferred tax asset 2 -
Total deferred tax asset 2 41
Balance brought forward 41 2,740
Charge for the gear - (1,844)
Deferred tax asset derecognition - (341)
Change in tax rate on deferred tax brought forward - 5
Remaoved on disposal of subsidiary 60 -

Adjustments to prior periads

Work in progress is aged based on end of case settlement date.

16,924

18,245
122,098
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i5, Trade and othe rocoivalles

Non-current

b

Disbursements 20,6606 22,195
Allowance for non-recovery {4,649 {5,167}
Total non-current trade and cther receivables 16,017 17,028
Current

Trade receivables 16,413 20,882
Accrued income 834 1,890
Net receivables 17,247 22,772
Disbursements 151,552 148,549
Allowance for non-recovery (34,094 (34,57
Net disbursements 117,458 3,978
Prepayrents 5,884 8,433
VAT receivable 2,877 -
Other recervables 7,062

oth

15,823

Trade receivables are reported net, after charging a Inctuded in other receivablesis £1.9m of capitalised
provision for non-recovery of £9.9m (2020: £20.2m). project costs that are amortised on a straight-line basis
Included in the provision for non-recovery is £0.Im over its finite useful economic life of 29 months. The
(2020: £0.Im) relating to the IFRS 9 expected credit fair value of the trade receivables, accrued income,
toss provision. disbursements, prepayments and other receivables is

considered to be equal to their carrying amount.

Cash atbank 11,519 13,775

At 31 December 202| cash includes an amount of £0.1m {2020: £0.1m) in respect of cash held in escrow.
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Non-current H /
Legal creditors 14,491 13,305
Current
Trade payables 8,323 22,829
Legal creditors 06,267 89,043
Accruals & deferred income 19,441 16,873
VAT paysble - 5,866
3,026 3,214

Social security & pension payzable
Other payables

Included in other payables is an outstanding balance
of £31.4m (2020: £20.9m) inrelation tothe Group's
arrangements for financing on costs agreed and

paid disbursements. The Group has 2 working

capital facility in place whereby a third party lends
on expected agreed costs and paid disbursements
and liability admitted WIP on personal injury (No
Win - No Fee) cases. The total facility available at 31
December 202l is £33.0m and is currently available
for new drawings until 31 March 2023. Weare in
active discussions with the lender to extend the terms
of this facility and the Directors' assessment of goirg
concern assumes this facility will be renewed under
substantially simiiar terms, consistent with discussions
with the tenders.

By i Yt L

The lease tiabilities reported in the statement of financial position comprise:

36,291

Included in other payables is deferred consideration
of £nit (2020: £2.0m) relating to the acquisition of
Jigsaw Law Limited, detailed in note 28.

During the pricr year, the Group took part in the VAT
Deferral Scheme which deferred VAT payments which
would have been due between 20 March 2020 and

30 June 2020. The deferred VAT liability of £4.7m

at 31 December 2020 was subsequently repaid to
HMRC under the instalment payment regime from 26
February 202i. At the year ended 3i December 202,
the deferred VAT liability balance reported is £0.3m
which has subsequently been paid post year-end.

i

Amounts payable under finance leases:

Within one year 4,952 5,507
in the second to fifth years inclusive i3,999 17,472
After five years 8,318 13,907
Total gross payments 27,269 36,886
Less: future interest charges (7,775) (I, 866}
Carrying value of Hability 9494 25,020
Analysed as:

Current 3,086 3,035

Non-current

16,408

Lease liabilities consist of properties and computer equipment under teases within the scope of IFRS 16 “Legses”.
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Bal as at 31D ber 2020 1,321 4,563 438 8,916
Additions 1,099 2,655 - 3,968
Utilisations (1,382) (1,328) - (2,921
Releases (60D (485) (438) {1,967)
Bal as at 31 D ber 2021 978 5405 - 7,998
Analysed as:

Current 200 725 5,405 - 6,330
Non-current 1,413 253 ~ - 1,666

Balance as at 3| December 2019 4,216 1,709 3,366 3,629 12,920
Additions 377 1,098 2,629 16 4,120
Utilisations (96) 01,4863 (1,202) (2,397) (5,180
Releases {1,203 - (230) (810} (2,943)
Balance as at 31 December 2020 2,594 1,321 4,563 438 8,916
Analysed as:

Current 1,060 1,204 4,56% 438 7,265
Non-current 1,534 7 - - 1,65}

The ditapidations, onercus provision and other
provision reported above have been shown as current
or non-current on the statement of financial position
reflecting the Group's expected timing of the matters
reaching conclusion. Due to the nature of the claims
and unknown settlement date, the balance has been
reported as current.

Dilapidations: The provision represents the future
expected repair costs required to restore the Group's
leased buildings to their fair condition at the end of
their respective lease terms.

Onerous provision: The provision represents the
remaining expenditure on rates and utilities that no

lenger derive economic benefit in the future. The
onerous provisions are stated at the net present value
of the amounts payable under the contracts.

Claims: The provision represents the cost of open

and potential future claims in process at the year end
brought against the Group by former customers.

The provision estimate reflects the potential amount
payable by the Group under its Professional Indemnity
insurance Policy based on historical information and
facts pertinent to the individual ciaim if material.

Other: The provision was in respect of a potential
liability for VAT which has now been settled.

Non-current
Shareholders’ Loan

Current
Shareholders' Loan

43,484

- 33,801




The Group has an outstanding loan of £43.5m (2020:
E33.8m) comprising principal of £29.5m (2020:

£24 5m} and interest of £14.0m (2020: £9.3m). The
total loan is secured on all assets of the Group and is
repayable in full on 31 May 2024. On {G June 2022,
the Group repaid in full, including PIK interest, the
shareholder ioan of £46.3m. Following repayment of
the shareholder loans, the Group does not hold any
external debt other than the VFS facility.

The loan comprises three facilities: the Existing Facility
Loan, the Incremental Facility Loan and the new Super
Senior Incremental Facility:

At 3l December 202l, the Existing Facility L.oan had
an outstanding balance of £21.5m (2020: £19.5m)
including interest incurred at 10% per annum {2020:
10% perannum). On 14 December 2021, the loan
was extended to 3t May 2024.
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« At 31 December 2021, the incrementat Facility Loan
had an outstanding balance of £17.0m
{2020: £14.3m) including interest incurred at
17.5% per annum (2020:17.5% per annum). On
|14 December 2021, the loan was extended to 3l
May 2024. The costs incurred in the extension of
the Existing Facility Loan and Incremental Facility
Loan have been included in the carrying amount
of the loan as there was not a substantial change in
the terms of the facilities, as assessed under IFRS 9
“Financial instruments”

On {4 December 2021, the Group agreed a

new Super Senior Incremental Facility with its
shareholders. The Group has committed to
additional funding of £5.0m (Tranche A) and a
further £5.0m is available but not yet committed
(Tranche B). This facility is due to expire on 3l May
2024 and accrues interest at {09 PIK interest

per annum.

Balance at 3| December 2019 1,000,014 172,004 - 23,549 23,549
Issue of shares on convertible {oan note 2,5G5 - - 100 100
Issue of shares 42,667 252 252

(20,450) - - - -

Repurchase of ordinary shares

At 31 December 202! the Group has two classes of
shares which carry no right to fixed income.

In anticipation of the Watchstone plc litigation, Slater
& Gordon (UK) | Limited and Glas Trustees Limited
(" Trustee”) entered into a Convertible Loan Notes
Trust Deed on 22 December 2017 (as amended on 19
December 2019) to absorb any proceeds from the
litigation. On 20 January 2020, Slater & Gordon
(UK) | Limized issued £250,000,008 loan notes to the
Noteholders. The Noteholiders exercised their right
to convertthe loan notes into preference shares on

a l:kbasis. As agreed under the deed the preference
shares were exchanged for equity inthe Company by
the Companyissuing 2,505 Ordinary Shares to the

Noteholders at fair vaiue. The loss on issuance

in the prior year was £0.Im and is reported in the
loss on share issuance in the statement of
comprehensive income.

In July 2020 the Group issued 42,667 Class A

Shares to key management perscnnel (“heneficial
owners’) for cash at their unresiricted market value
as at the purchase date. Slater and Gordon UK
Nominees Limited holds these shares on behalf of the
beneficial owners.

On 2! December 2020, the Group repurchased
20,450 shares for £0.0l following the partial
repurchase of the shareholders’ loan of £0.3m held
within the Group by Slater & Gordon {UK) | Limited.

22 Dwir anmree ; £
At start of year (124) -
Own shares ptirchased )

Qwn shares reissied

Slater and Gordon EBT Limited holds 26,669 ordinary shares (2020: 26,669 ordinary shares) in the Company
with a nominal value of £0.1m (2020: £0.Im} representing 2.7% of the ordinary share capital (2020: 2.7%).
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2% Grroup entitios

The following companies as wetl as the parent company {(Slater and Gordon UK Holdings Limited) form the
Group. The basis of the subsidiaries within the Group is not defined by ownership but by control of the entity.
The companies which can apply the subsidiary exemption from audit of accounts under section 479A of the

Companies Act 2006 are noted below.

ST RET R ot ELE

Controlled entities

4 Legel Lirnited

4 Legal Solutions Limited

Abstract Legal Holdings Limited

Access ta Compensation Limited

Accident Advice Helpline Direct Limited

Accident Advice Helpline Limited

Accident Advice Insurance Management Group Limited

Adroit Financial Planning Limited

Compass Costs Consultants Limited

Intelligent Claims Mapagement Limited

iSaas Technology Limited

Legal Facilities Management & Services Limited
Liberty Protect Limited

MDL Medical Administration Limited
Medicalaw Limited

Medicil_egal Limited

SG Heaith Group Limited (formerly Mobile Doctors
Group Limited)

SG Health Solutions Limited (formerly Mobile Doctors
Salutions Limited}

Qverland Health Limited

Qverland Limnited

Overland Malta (Trading) Limited

React & Recover Medicat Group Limited

React Medical Management Limited

React Medical Reporting Limited

Recover Healthcare Limited

SG Funding Limited

5G Technology Innovations Limited

SGS Business Process Services (UK) Lirnited

Slater & Gordon {(UK) | Limited

Slater & Gordon (UK) 2LLP

Stater & Gordon Collections Limited

Stater & Gordon Trust Corporation Limited
Slater and Gordon EBT Limited

Slater and Gordon Scotland Limited

Slater and Gordon UK Limited

Stater and Gordon UK Nominees Limited
Waller Smith Way Limited

WSW Limited

Urited Kingdom
United Kingdom'
United Kingdom'
United Kingdom'
United Kingdom'
United Kingdom'
United Kingdom'

United Kingdom'

United Kingdom
United Kingdom'
United Kingdom'
United Kingdom'
United Kingdom'
Urnited Kingdom'
United Kingdom'
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24 Capitol risk pranagemaent

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns
while maximising the return to sharehoiders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt
(comprising of interest bearing loans and borrowings,
tease liabilities and deducting cash and short-term
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deposits) and equity of the Group {comprising issued
capital and retained earnings).

The Group manages its capital structure and adjusts
in light of changes in economic conditions and the
requirements of the financial covenants. The Group
monitors capital using a gearing ratio, determined as
the proportion of net debt to equity.

Interest bearing loans 20 43,484 33,801
Lease liabilities 18 19,494 25,020
Less: cash and short-term depaosits 16 (11,519} (13,775)
Net debt 5,459 45,046
Equity 85,116 107,905

% 42%

The debt excludes the working capital facility due to this being a working capital arrangement which is repaid
from monies received on settlement.

The key management have been assessed to be the Group's Executive Leadership Team. During the year ended
3l December 202| there were nine {(2020: ten) key management personnel. The compensation paid or payable
to key management for employee services is shown below:

Short-term employee benefits
Wages andsalaries
Social security costs

Contributions to defined centribution
pension arrangements

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Group issued loans of £nit (2020: £8.Im} to no key
management personnel (2020: one).

During the year ended 3l December 2021, Enil of loans
were paid back to the Group by no key management
personnel (2020: £0.03m).

2,010 2,106
262 354
28 46

The outstanding loans batance is £0.2m (2020
E£0.2m) and are repayable over two years. The loans
attract interest at 2.009%6 (2020: 2.25%). There were
no other related party transactions during the year to
31 December 202l other than the shareholders’ lean

referred to in note 20.
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26 Financial risk manggement

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks comprising:

1) Credit risk
i) Liguidity risk

iii) Fair values
iv) Foreign exchange risk

The Directors have overall responsibility for identifying and managing operational and financial risks. The

categories of financial instruments are as follows:

APy atagd

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 16
Met trade receivables 15
Ctherreceivables 15
Net disbursements 15

i,519 13,775
17,247 22,772
15,823 13,479

133,476 06

Financial liablilities

Trade and other payables 7
Interest bearing loans 20

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the

Group. The main exposure to credit risk in the Group
is represented by trade and other receivables owing to
the Group. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises
from potential default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of
those assets as disclosed in the statement of financial
position and notes to the financial statements.

The credit risk associated with cash and cash
equivalents is considered as minimal as the cash and
cash equivalents are held with reputable financial
institutions in the UK.

Debts are almost exclusively due from insurance
companies. The capitalisation of insurers is requlated
by the Financial Conduct Authority in the UK.

The insurance industry operates a policy holders’
protection scheme to alleviate the impact of the
failure of an insurance company, minimising risk to
the Group.

No interest is charged on the receivable’s balances,
however late penalty payments become payable at
certain dates under the Association of British Insurers’
General Terms of Agreement. The Group does not
hotd any security over these balances nor has the legal
right of offset with any amounts owed by the Group to
the receivables counterparty.

187,839 177,774
43,484 33,801

Management of credit risk

The Group actively manages its credit risk by:

assessingthe capability of a customer to meet its
obligations under the fee and retainer agreement;
periodically reviewing the reasons for bad debt
write-offs in order to improve the future decision-
making process;

maintaining an adequate provision against the future
recovery of receivables and disbursements;
including in practitioner’s Key Performance
Indicators ("KPI's"”) measurements in respect

of receivable levels, recovery and investment in
disbursements;

providing ongeing training to staff in the
management of their personnel and practice group
receivable portfolios; and

where necessary, pursuing the recovery of debts
owed to the Group through external mercantile
agents and the courts.

.

Due to the nature of the No Win - No Fee
arrangements applicable to the majority of the
legal matters managed by the Group an increase
in the required processing time between initiation
and settlement and an increase in the ageing of
receivables, particularly disbursements, does not
always increase the associated credit risk.

Management performs periodic assessment of

the recoverability of receivables, and provisions

are calculated based on historical write-offs of the
receivables as well as any known circumstances relating
to the matters in progress.



59

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between the continuity of funding and flexibility through the use
of operating cash flows and committed available credit facilities. The Group actively reviews its funding position
to ensure the available facilities are adequate to meet its current and anticipated needs.

The Group manages liquidity risk by menitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that adequate borrowing
facilities are maintained.

Maturity analysis

The tabte below represents the undiscounted contractual setttement terms for financial instruments and
management’s expectation for settlement of undiscounted maturities.

TR e DL ’ : £ SRR

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payabtes 173,348 4,491 187,839 187,839
Lease Labilities 3,086 16,408 27,269 19,494
Provisians 6,330 1,666 7,996 7,996

4

Barrowings - 484 4

P TR . N b

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 164 469 3,305 77,774 177,774
Lease Liabitities 3,035 21,985 36,886 25,020
Provisions 7,265 b 651 8,916 8,916

| 33,801

beari 33,801 33,801

The financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value approximates their carrying amounts as
disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes te the financial statements.

The Group is exposed to currency risk on services income, expenses, receivables and borrowings that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the Group entities, which is Sterling (GBP).
The Group has one subsidiary denominated in EUR but has deemed the risk as not significant at the end of the
reporting period.
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JE Cortealling pariy

At 3i December 2021, there was no one person with ultimate control of Stater and Gordon UK Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries. Slater and Gordon UK Holdings Limited is the largest and smallest group for which
consolidated accounts are prepared.

28 Ggsaw sogutsitior

On 9 October 2020, the Group completed an asset acquisition of the WiP and associated client files of Jigsaw
Law Limited for deferred consideration totalling £2.5m, which is fully paid at 3| December 2021, The Group has
assessed the acquisition under IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” and foliowing completion of the concentration
test, has concluded that this meets the definition of an asset acquisition due to the nature of the assets acquired.

The cost of the assets and liabilities acquired have been aliocated on the basis of their relative fair value at the
date of purchase as set out below:

P55 SEAPIRINE P S R

Workin progress
Disbursermnents

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade payables

editors

P T S W g Ll
AN 3 v RIS SV TS AR N SRAE T 0 )

On 10 June 2022, the Group repaid in full inctuding PIK interest, the shareholder loan of £46.3m and
subsequently wrote off £1.9m capitalised costs held as other receivables at 31 December 2021, Following
repayment of the shareholder loans, the Group does not hold any external debt other than the VFS facility.

On 7 duly 2022, the Group repurchased 232,632 Ordinary shares of £0.00000i nominal value for £1.4m.

As detailed in note 6b, on 17 November 202! the Directors announced a plan te enter into third party
partnerships for the provision of the hire and repair business of SGS Business Process Services (UK) Limited. Alt
contracted parties and employees were notified and the scope of services being provided was reduced. The new
partnership arrangements were finalised in March 2022, and management intends to cease trade by May 2023.

During 2022, the biggest risk in the markets has been the rise in inflation and, as a result, central banks have
started to raise interest rates. Since February 2022, the Group has been closely monitoring the geopolitical
issues in Ulkraine and the effect on global markets. Management do not expect these events to impact the long
term returns ofthe Group.

On |5 December 2022, the Group sold Adroit Financial Planning Limited. The disposal did not meet the criteria
under IFRS 5 "Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations” to be disclosed as held of sale at 3|
December 202! or discontinued operations for year ended 31 December 2021.






Company statement of
financial position

At 3l December 2021

B DELERARE CERRAEER JL20

e TR [ £
Non-current assets
Investments 3 23,75 23,75
Total non-current assets 23,751 23,751
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 4 554 553
Cash and cash equivalents 5 157 358

Total current assets " o o . " n 9“

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Net current assets 151 15}

Net assats 23,902 23,902

Capital and reserves
Share premium 7 23,901 23,90t

Retained earnings

The Directors have taken advantage of the exemption available under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and not presented a
Staternent of Comprehensive Income for the Company. Profit after tax for the financial year was Enil (2020 £1,000).

The accompanying notes on pages 64 to 67 form an integral part of these financial statements,

The financial statements were approved by the board of Directors and authorised for issue on |3 January 2023.

They were signed on its behalf by:

b O

N ! Stoesser Chief Executive Officer

Company number: 1097731
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Company statement of
changes in equity

For the year ended 3| December 202|

Batance at | January 2020 - 23,549 - 23,549
Profit after tax for the year - - | !
Total comprehensive income for the yesr - - | i
Transactions with owners In their capacity as owners

Issue of shares - 352 - 352
Total tr tions with s in thelr capacity as owners - 352 - 3152
Batance at 3| December 2020 - 23,901 | 23,902
Result for the year - - - -

Total shensive cesult for the year

The accompanying nates on pages 64 to 67 form an integral part of these financiat statements.
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Company notes to the
financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

boAcoounting policies

The Company's financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting
Standard 101, “Reduced Disclosure Framework®
(FRS101) and the Companies Act 2006. FRS 10!
sets out a reduced disclosure framework for a
'qualifying entity’ as defined in the standard which
addresses the financial reporting requirements and
disclosure exemptions in the individual financial
statements of quatifying entities that otherwise
apply the recognition, measurement and disclosure
requirements in accordance with IFR5 as adopted
by the UK. The Company meets the definition of

a qualifying entity under FRS 100, “Application of
Financiol Reporting Requirements” as issued by the
Financiat Reporting Council.

FRS |0l sets out amendments to IFRS's that are
necessary to achieve compliance with the Companies
Act 2006 and related Regulations. The Company
adopted the following amendments to IFRS's from |
January 2021

Interest Rate Benchmark Amendments tc IFRS

Refarm 9, JAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS
4 and IFRS 16
Amendments to [AS | Amendments to

presentation of
financial statements
on classification of
liabilities

The Company’s financial statements are presented
in Pounds Sterling (GBP), which is the functionat
currency of the Company and all values are rounded
to the nearestthousand (E'000), except when
otherwise indicated.

Historical cost convention

The financial statements are prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by revaluations
to fair value for certain classes of assets as described in
the accounting policies. By publishing the Company
financial statements here together with the Group
financial statements the Company is taking advantage

of the exemption in s408 of the Companies Act

2006 not to present its individual income statement
and related notes that form part of these approved
financial statements. The adoption of the amendments
listed above did not have any impact onthe amounts
recognised in prior and current periods. No impact is
expected in future periods.

The adoption of the amendments listed above did
not have any impact on the amounts recognised in
prior and current periods. No impact is expected in
future periods.

Amendments to [FRS's inissue but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial
staterments, the Company has not applied the
following amendments to IFRS's that have been issued
but are not yet effective:

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
(effective from 1 January

2023)

Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and
Contingent Assets
{effective from | January

Amendments to |IAS 37

2022)
Annual improvements to | Effective from | January
IFRS 2018-2020 2022

The Directors do not expect that the amendments

to the Standards listed above will have a material
impact on the financizl statements of the Company in
future periods.

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost {ess
accumulated impairment. Impairment reviews are
carried out if there is an indication that the carrying
value of the investments may have been impaired.
Where, inthe opinion of the Directors, an impairment
of the investment has arisen, provisions are made in
accordance with EAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

Amounts owed from group companies are repayable
on demand and do not attract interest. Due to

the short-term nature of the amounts, their fair
value is considered to be equal to their carrying value.




The amounts owed are assessed for expected
redit Llosses on a general basis under IFRS @
“Financiol Instruments”.

Amounts owed to group companies are stated at cost
and are classified as current liabilities as the payment is
repayable on demand and does not attract interest.

The financial statements have been preparedon a
going concern Hasis,

At 3i December 202[, the Company had net assets
of £23.9m and netcurrent assets of £0.2m. The
Directors have prepared the Company financial
statements of Slater & Gordon UK Holdings Limited
using the going concern basis of preparation, on

the basis that the Company is included within the
Slater and Gordon group of companies in the UK and
Malta. The going concern disclosure as set outin
the consolidated financial statements of Slater and
Gordon UK Holdings Limited are as follows:

At 31 December 2021, the Group had net assets of
£85.Im and cash of £11.5m, The Group has prepared
cash flow forecasts for the period to 30 June 2024,
based on key assumptions around the achievement
of revenues, the costs and working capital reguired
to generate these revenues. The Directors have
considered the level of new instructions and the likely
future value of this work together with the forecasts
and projected cash flow patterns of the Group for
the foreseeable future, being a period of at least (2
months from the date of approval of these financial
statements.

The Group's projections for the period to 30 June
2024 including receipts and payments indicate that the
Group expects to be able to discharge its obligations
to all stakeholders. Business activity and cash flows
are monitored on a weekly basis and continue tc be
satisfactory. Regular financial forecasts are prepared
toc monitor the Group’s funding requirements to
demonstrate the Grougp's ability to meet its working
capital requirements, to meet liabilities when they
fall due and to comply with regulatory capital
requirements.

The Group has considered the impact of the global
economy on the cashfiow forecasts, including the
aftermath of the Covid-19 pandemic, the continuing
rise of inflation and the geopolitical issues in Ukraine.
The forecasts are based on a prudent level of intake
growth, with road traffic volumes and court processes
seeing a return to pre Covid-19 levels, The successful
settlement of the VW case enabled the Group to
increase cash during FY22.
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As part of looking at the peried of the projections

the Group has also assessed its access to financing.
Histerically this has been provided through a
shareholder loan facility and a working capital facility.

The shareholder loan facility, including accrued
interest, was £43.5m as at 31 December 2021 and was
fully drawn down {2020: £33.8m). On {0 June 2022,
following the successful settlement of the Votkswagen
class action, the Group repaid the shareholder loan of
£46.8m (including interest), in accordance with the
contractual terms of the loan facility.

The werking capital facility had £31.4m drawn at 3|
December 202t (2020: £20.9m). In common with
most asset based facilities this is an on demand facility,
meaning that the lending counterpart has the ability to
restrict or cease to allow drawdowns at short notice.
This has been the case since the inception of the facility
in2019.

The current provider of the working capital facility has
informed the Group that it is attempting to refinance
its own business given repayment commitments under
its own facilities. If these refinancing activities are not
successful the current provider has indicated it will

not be able to continue funding the Group’s working
capital facility. In these circumstances the Group will
need to find alternative working capitat imancing. The
Directors’ assessment of going concern assumes that
the Group will have accesstoatleast E25m of working
capital funding, on terms that are substantially similar
tocurrent terms. The group is in ongoing discussions
with the current lender, and other lenders, with the
support of professional advisors, to secure this level of
funding for the period of the projections.

The Directors have reasonable expectations that

the Group will have access tothe necessary working
capital financing based on current discussions with

its lenders and other potentiai lenders, in particutar
given the availability of unsecured net assets of
approximately £130m at 30 November 2022
{unaudited management accounts). Accordingly, the
Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing these financiat statements.

Ifthe Group were not able to access at least £25m
of working capitat funding during the period of the
projections these events or conditions constitute

a material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt over the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern.

bt faer

The audit fee of £45,000 was borne by Slater and
Gordon (UK) I Limited, a subsidiary company
(2020: £93,000).
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A bnwastments

Cost

At start of year 23,751 23,651
Additions - [910]
At end of year 23,751 23,751

Provisions for impairment

Atstart and end of year

Investments comprise of equity shares in Slater & (UK) I Limited issuing 250,000,008 Preference
Gardon (UK) | Limited, a company incorporated in shares of £l each fully paid to the loan note holders
the United Kingdom with registered office 58 Mosley which, inaccordance with the deed, were immediately
Street, Manchester, M2 3HZ. exchanged for equity in the Company by the Company

. issuing 2,505 Ordinary Shares to the Noteholders at
The conversion of the Watchstone convertible loan fair value in exchange for the preference shares.

note on 20 January 2020 resulted in Slater & Gordon

s omdde nned Ry o0l anies

Current

4

Thiars g

The amounts owed to group companies are repayable on demand and do not attract interest (2020: same).

Balance at 3| December 2019 1,000,014 172,004 - 23,549 23,549
Issue of shares on convertible loan note 2,505 - - 100 100
Issue of shares - 42,667 - 252 252

Repurchase of ordinary shares (20,450) - - - -
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At 31 December 2021 the Company has two classes of shares which carry no right to fixed income.

In anticipation of the Watchstone plc Litigation, Slater & Gordon (UK) | Limited and Glas Trustees Limited
("Trustee”) entered into a Convertible Loan Notes Trust Deed on 22 December 2017 (asamended on |9
December 2019) to absorb any proceeds from the litigation. On 20 January 2020, Slater & Gorden (UK) |
Limited issued £250,000,008 loan notes to the Noteholders. The Noteholders exercised their right to convert
the loan notes into preference shares on a |1 basis. As agreed under the deed the preference shares were
exchanged for equity in the Company by the Company issuing 2,505 Crdinary Shares to the Notehclders at fair
value. On 24 June 2020, the terms of the Preference Shares were changed so such that they became ordinary
shares, ranking equally with the existing ordinary shares (also owned by the Company} by changing the rights
attaching to the shares.

In July 2020 the Company issued 42,667 Class A Shares to key management persennel ("beneficial owners”)
for cash at their unrestricted market vatue as at the purchase date. Slater and Gordon UK Nominees Limited
holds these shares on behalf of the beneficial owrers.

On 2i December 2020, the Company repurchased 20,450 shares for £0.0| fotlowing the partial repurchase of
the shareholders’ loan of £0.3m held within the Group by Slater & Gordon {UK) ! Limited.

£ heleyod pariy frensactions

The Company is taking advantage of the exemption granted under Financial Reporting Standard 101, Paragraph
8({k), “Related Party Transactions”, not to disclose transactions with wholly owned group companies, which
are related parties. Disclosures related to Directors’ remuneration are made within note 8 of the consolidated
accounts.

SRR E A T A WS S AL SR A
i

On 12 February 2019, the Company entered into a guarantee of a services agreement between RAC Matoring
Services, 5G5S Business Process Services {UK} Limited and Slater and Gordon UK Limited, each of whom provide
services (credit hire, credit repair or legal services) to customers of RAC. Annual anticipated fees £1.Im, as
adjusted for volumes.

On 22 June 2019, the Company entered into a counter-indemnity (issued in favour of Slater and Gordon L imited
("SGL") of SGL's guarantee of the LLP Agreement relating to Slater and Gordon (UK) 2 LLP (the "LLP") dated
30 April 2012 in favour of the B Members of the LLP).

o Gobsaguesd onent
Minority shareholder buyback
On 7 July 2022, the Company repurchased 232,632 Ordinary shares of £0.00000I nominat value for £1.4m.
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